PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X
DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Conway Belwell Williams (Forensic Consultancy) Limited (CBW)

	Scheme
	:
	Ionic Surface Treatments Limited Pension Scheme

	Respondents
	:
	Former Trustees - Mr Leigh Danks, Mr Colin Prosser, Mr Michael Brooke


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. This application, made by an independent trustee, concerns the validity or otherwise of augmentations apparently granted to Mr Danks and Mr Prosser in 1990 and 1992.  The Applicant further says that a transfer value of approximately £689,000 paid out in 2000 in respect of Mr Danks’ Scheme benefits was too high.  
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

3. An oral hearing was held in January 2007 when evidence was heard from Mr Frost, the Scheme Actuary at the time of the transfer, Mr Danks, Mr Brooke and submissions were made by Mr Clarke, representing the Applicant and Mr Newman representing Mr Danks.   

4. The oral hearing was particularly directed to clarifying:

4.1. Mr Danks’ awareness or otherwise that Scheme valuations had been undertaken on the basis that Mr Danks’ Normal Retirement Age was 60.

4.2. Mr Danks’ awareness or otherwise that his earlier retirement would require additional funding.

4.3. Mr Danks’ decision to proceed with the transfer in the absence of legal advice.

4.4. The timing of the transfer payment in the light of the Company’s financial difficulties and the possible winding up of the Scheme

4.5. Whether, if Mr Danks is at fault, he is in any event entitled to the protection of an exoneration clause.

5. Prior to that oral hearing agreement had been reached with the parties of a statement of material facts. That statement is attached as Appendix A to this report. A brief summary of relevant oral evidence taken at the Oral Hearing is set out at Appendix B. 
6. In the course of the Oral Hearing the Applicant, through its representative, withdrew any allegation of dishonesty on the part of Mr Danks but maintained that that there was culpable or wilful disregard of his duties as a trustee. 
7. Set out at Appendix C are the Applicant’s (C1) and Mr Danks’ (C2) further submissions made after the oral hearing.  
CONCLUSIONS
8. Mr Danks was an impressive witness both in the sense of  convincing me as to his truthfulness (and I note that in the course of the hearing the Applicant indicated that it did not wish  me to pursue any question of dishonesty on his part) and in the sense of his good faith toward the Scheme and its members. I deal later with the question of the validity of the enhancements to Mr Danks’ pension but what is clear to me is that on his understanding that he was so entitled he voluntarily agreed to a substantial reduction of those benefits in order to ensure, again on his understanding, that when the value of those benefits was transferred from the Scheme, the Scheme remained fully funded on an MFR basis. 

9. I am, incidentally, satisfied, having considered the evidence from Mr Frost including that provided under cross examination, that immediately after the transfer value taken by Mr Danks the Scheme was fully funded on an MFR basis. Until almost immediately before the transfer, there had indeed been a significant deficit when the Scheme was assessed on such a basis. But that was because the earlier assessment took account of the unreduced liability toward Mr Danks. His agreement to reduce his entitlement effectively wiped out that deficit. 

10. By comparison with Mr Danks, Mr Brooke was much less impressive although account needs to be taken of the fact that he had flown in from America immediately before the hearing. Mr Brooke might best be described as impressionable, agreeing as readily with Mr Danks’ Counsel that Mr Danks had done nothing wrong as readily as he had apparently agreed with a contrary view from the Applicant.  The suggestion from Mr Danks’ side was that Mr Brooke had made his previous criticisms of the basis of some selective information having been put to him, which the Applicant denies, saying that at the time not all relevant documentation was to hand.  But I have seen no need to explore the validity of that suggestion despite the desire of the solicitor representing the Applicant that I should do so, although I can understand his concern to rebut what might be seen as a thinly veiled charge of unprofessional conduct. For the purposes of determining the matter before me I deem it sufficient to say that in so far as any allegation of dishonesty or lack of openness on the part of Mr Danks rested on statements or letters written by Mr Brooke – and the solicitor representing the Applicant was anxious to distance his only client from having made such a statement – then I would not feel safe in upholding any such allegation. In fairness to Mr Brooke let me make clear that I am not accusing him of lacking honesty. But a combination of his lack of recollection and his contradictory statements meant that his evidence could not be relied upon with any confidence.  
11. On the basis of the written and oral evidence before me, I am satisfied, primarily on the evidence of Mr Frost, the then Scheme Actuary, that valuations had been made on the basis of Mr Danks intending to retire at age 60 but, with one exception, also taking account of an option for Mr Danks (and another member, Mr Prosser) having an option to take earlier retirement. Mr Danks was aware of that basis of calculation. The exception relates to 1997, when by an oversight, account was not taken of that early retirement option. Mr Frost made clear that although account was, subject to the exception I have mentioned, taken of the earlier retirement option, his assessment of the funding needed was made on the reasonable and realistic assumption that Mr Danks’ intention had always been to retire at age 60.

12. I am satisfied that Mr Danks’ understanding was that,  in so far as the enhancement of his benefits was to do with past service,  this was to be financed from a surplus which was assessed on the Scheme at the time when the enhancements were agreed.

13. Mr Danks was certainly aware, at the time when the arrangements were made for his pension benefits to be increased, that future contributions from the Company would be needed in order to fund the enhanced benefits. I am less certain whether he was aware that prior to his exploring the option of taking a transfer value, the Company’s contributions  had not been at a level which was sufficient to allow payment of a full transfer value although assurance was given by Mr Frost’s letter of 2 August 1999.  In any event, I see little turning on this. When Mr Danks did become aware that the effect of his taking a transfer value would be to leave the Scheme with a deficit on the MFR basis he elected, as I indicated above,  to accept a substantially reduced transfer value and thus to leave the Scheme without such a deficit.
14. Mr Danks must of course have been aware that although Mr Frost’s letter of August 1999 provided assurance as to the funding of the Scheme, the failure of the Company to pay the contributions due by the end of the year undermined that assurance.  Nevertheless, by the time the (reduced) transfer value came to be paid further assurance had been provided by Mr Frost that payment would not leave the Scheme in deficit on an MFR basis. 
15. Mr Danks was advised by Eversheds in November 1999 that Eversheds were not in a position to meet his request for them to provide legal advice to the trustees. That was because of a possible conflict of interest given that Eversheds were retained by the Company.  Nevertheless, Eversheds went on to advise a course of action which they felt should be acceptable to the trustees. I can see no specific legal obligation on the trustees to take advice on the specific legal point. Clearly there was no contractual or professional relationship between Eversheds and the trustees but in the circumstances of having knowledge of such a letter I would not be critical of the trustees for proceeding without seeking confirmation in some other form of the course of action indicated by Eversheds.  I note that action included advice for the trustees to seek the advice of the Scheme actuary, a course which was being followed. 
16. The Applicant submitted that at the time of taking his transfer value, Mr Danks was aware that the Company was in financial difficulties (the Applicant later submitted that in 2000 the Company made a loss of nearly £1.3 million) and that the Scheme could be wound up.  The significance of this is that a Scheme which is 100% funded on an MFR basis may nevertheless not have sufficient funds to meet all the liabilities which arise on a winding-up. The Applicant submitted that by going ahead with the transfer Mr Danks put his personal interests before those of other Scheme members. 

17. The rebuttal to that comes primarily from Mr Frost whose evidence was that the Scheme benefited from Mr Danks’ transfer and that in his view it my have been in Mr Danks’ personal interests to have left his benefits in the Scheme. Undoubtedly the Scheme benefited from Mr Danks’ decision to accept a very substantial reduction in the amount of his benefits. That is not quite the same as saying that the Scheme benefited from having the full value of those reduced benefits being withdrawn from the Scheme. In reality, however, Mr Danks’ agreement to take substantially reduced benefits may well not have been forthcoming unless he could be assured that he could immediately take his transfer value. 

18. I observe, incidentally, that Mr Frost took care to point out that his letter to Mr Danks of 18 August 2000 was written to Mr Danks in his capacity as a trustee. Put another way Mr Frost might be seen as providing advice to the trustees. I am not entirely convinced of this: in deciding whether the advice was being offered to a trustee as opposed to a beneficiary I am inclined to look more to the content of the letter than to the label attached to it. My reservations apply with even more force to Mr Frost’s letter to Mr Danks six days later on 24 August 2000. I cannot construe that letter as being other than advice which was offered to Mr Danks in his personal capacity as to what Mr Danks might properly agree “with the trustees.” I prefaced this paragraph by saying it was an incidental remark because Mr Frost is not a Respondent to the particular complaint.
19. The advice to Mr Danks was that he had a right to take his transfer value. The oral evidence before me was that had he chosen not so to do the Scheme is likely to have gone into wind up with in due course the result of Mr Danks, like other members, receiving less than his full entitlement. But I do need to take into account that Mr Danks has, if the enhancements to his pension are regarded as being valid, taken what Mr Frost estimates to be a 50% cut to his entitlement. In those circumstances it is in my view unfair to Mr Danks to say that he put his own interests ahead of those of other members of the Scheme.  
20. I need also to have regard to Rule 18 the first paragraph of which provides that no decision or exercise of a power or discretion by a trustee shall be invalidated or questioned on the grounds of a trustee having a personal interest. I find it difficult to see how the Applicant in asserting to me that Mr Danks’ (and Mr Prosser’s) personal interests and/or their interests as directors of the Company conflicted with their duties as trustees is doing other than precisely what Rule 18 (A) permits.
21. There is bound to be scrutiny when a senior figure within a company takes his benefits from the Scheme shortly before the company goes into liquidation and the Scheme is wound up. In my opinion, the timing of this particular transaction survives such scrutiny.    
22. The Applicant put before me a witness statement from Mr Atkin who is also an actuary who said that “taking account of the previous funding of the Scheme agreed by Mr Danks as trustee and assuming that the augmentation was in all respects valid, the maximum value for transfer ought perhaps to have been based on N/NS accrual of a 2/3rd pension payable from age 60 calculated on the MFR basis.” He estimates that such a transfer value would have been of the order of £450,000.    
23. It is not clear to me how Mr Atkin came by that figure. Mr Frost was firm in his evidence as to the way transfer values and the MFR valuation was to be calculated. In so far as there may be some disagreement between the actuaries the point seems to me to be somewhat academic. In practical terms what was being agreed, on the assumption mentioned by Mr Atkin that the augmentation was valid, was that Mr Danks would take a reduced transfer value by comparison with that to which he was entitled, the reduction being to such level as would allow the Scheme, after deduction of the transfer value, to remain 100 % funded on an MFR basis. It seems to me that this in effect led to not so much to a valuation of the transfer value in accordance with GN11 as the reverse: the question which was really being answered was what benefits did Mr Danks need briefly to retain in order for those benefits then producing a transfer value of an amount which would allow him to obtain payment from the Scheme.  It seems to me that Mr Atkin’s figure, which in any event was expressed somewhat tentatively, fails to recognise the sacrifice inherent in the transaction. 
24. I turn next to the question of the validity of the augmentation of Mr Danks’ pension.  

25. The Applicant firstly submits that in 1990 and 1992 (when letters dated 31 August 1990 and 23 November 1992 were issued to Mr Danks) the Scheme was governed by the Interim Deed which contained no augmentation power so that neither the Company nor the trustees had power to grant augmented benefits to Mr Danks and Mr Prosser.  The Applicant further argues that although Clause 7 of the Interim Deed contained a power of amendment, the Respondents have not contended that this was exercised.  

26. The Applicant further argues that the Definitive Trust Deed and Rules had no retrospective effect save as to maintain the efficacy of the provisions in the Interim Deed and member announcements (and possibly in respect of the trustees’ general administrative powers). The Applicant argues that the inclusion of an amendment power (in Clause 7 of the Interim Deed) suggests that, if depositive trust powers needed to be extended before the execution of a Definitive Trust Deed, then the amendment power would be exercised for such purpose, rather than seeking to rely on Rule 34(A)(ii) of the Definitive Deed retrospectively to validate augmentations (which would otherwise be in breach of trust).  
27. For Mr Danks it is argued that the Definitive Deed had retrospective effect such that Rule 34(A) required the trustees, in specified circumstances, to provide additional benefits as the employer should, in its absolute discretion, determine.  See Imperial Foods Limited v Jeeves (unreported, 27 January 1986). That case too involved a scheme established by an Interim Trust Deed. There was also a second interim deed. When the Definitive Trust Deed was executed it included what Walton J referred to as an exemption clause offering protection for the trustees. Walton J held that in principle it must be that the definitive trust deed governs the situation from the commencement.  

28. Whilst I note the Applicant’s comments about the need for care in relying on that decision I am not convinced by the Applicant’s arguments as to why the principle should not apply in the present situation.  In particular I do not agree with the Applicant’s point about the creation of a different category of membership.   
29. The Applicant, although accepting that the Definitive Deed supersedes the Interim Deed and any amendments, contended that such amendments should have relied on the power in the Interim Deed to which no reference is made in the 1990 letter. I was referred to Stannard v Fisons Pension Trust Limited
 where the Court of Appeal held that “in a matter as important as this where a very substantial sum was to be transferred from one fund to another, it is right to insist on a correct procedure in the decision making process.” 
30. I firstly observe that the particular quotation to which I was directed is rather more qualified than the assertion made to me that the correct procedure needs always to be followed. I secondly observe that the facts in Stannard are a long way from those before me, and that the amount in issue before me is a great deal less than that before the Court of Appeal in Stannard. 

31. The application of Stannard does of course depend in any event on what was “the correct procedure.” It seems to me that,  taking account of Imperial Foods, such procedure as  is later established in a Definitive Deed can be regarded as having been correct even if not available at an earlier stage. I am not persuaded that the failure to use a power to amend the Interim Deed is fatal to a decision made in 1990 to augment benefits, given the retrospective effect of the Definitive Deed. 
32. I note that the real power effectively rests with the Company. The trustees do not have any power under Rule 34 (A) to decide what augmentation should be made. But only if the Company pays any increased contribution that the trustees consider necessary is there any obligation on the trustees to provide the required benefits.  

33. The Applicant has argued that the 1990 augmentations were effected by the trustees not by the Company as they say is evidenced by the letter of 31 August 1990. That letter was on Company notepaper but signed “For and on behalf of the Scheme Trustees.” There has been no suggestion that the Company was not aware of, or not content with the arrangements, indeed given Mr Danks’ position in the Company it would be difficult to mount such an argument. I have little difficulty in inferring from the evidence that the Company can be seen as having requested that such an augmentation be made.  
34. The Applicant submits that the 1992 augmentation was invalid because:  

34.1. it was not ratified by the trustees by a trustees resolution, 

34.2. additional funding was not put in place at the time or subsequently, 

34.3. there is no evidence to suggest that the trustees considered the matter.
35. For Mr Danks it is argued that no resolution of the trustees was required. That is correct. As I have noted above the agreement of the trustees is not a step in the process set out in Rule 34(A) so it would follow that no resolution was required at that time. 

36. The evidence from Mr Frost and of the valuation reports indicate that the effect of the augmentations was taken into account in deciding what “additional” funding should be sought from the Company. Indeed in reality what seems to have happened at the end of the day is that only such additional benefits were paid to Mr Danks as could be justified without seeking such further contributions as the trustees might have required. I note that in the Scheme valuation in 1993 reference was made to the fact that any early retirement would require an increase in the long term contribution rate. I infer from that the trustees would have refused to pay (had they been so requested) the enhanced benefits set out in the 1992 letter unless that additional contribution was forthcoming. Similarly Bacon & Woodrow’s letter of 15 November 1996 identified what additional cost would need to be met if Mr Danks sought to take advantage of the enhanced early retirement terms. 

37. The Applicant’s argument seems to me to rest in part on a false premise that the trustees needed, when the augmentation was first agreed, to settle on and obtain additional contributions. I do not think that is what Rule 34 requires. On my interpretation the trustees could determine whenever they were asked to pay benefits what additional funding they needed to give effect to the enhancements and could scale back the payments if no such contributions were made. In effect, if not in process, this is the end result that was achieved. 

38. The Applicant seeks to rely on a number of arguments raised after the oral hearing:
38.1 The Applicant, having accepted Mr Frost’s oral evidence that it was not possible to pre-fund for Mr Danks’ special terms (although the Applicant says that this was inconsistent with advice given by Mr Frost in the 1990s and later reiterated by Eversheds), now suggests that Mr Frost’s evidence was incomplete in that such benefits could not be awarded in advance.  The section of the Inland Revenue Practice Notes (IR12) (1997) to which the Applicant refers states that “any enhancement of early retirement benefits must be provided by way of augmentation at the time of such retirement”.  I see a distinction between “granting” and “providing”.  I do not accept that the Practice Notes preclude the earlier promise of such benefits.  Rather they provide that benefits promised in earlier decisions can only be provided at the time of early retirement.  
38.2 The Applicant has asserted that the Reduction in Benefits Statement (referred to in paragraph 34 of Appendix A) operated as an amendment to the Scheme Rules in respect of which requisite Inland Revenue approval was not obtained.  The Statement included an acknowledgement after the space for signature by Mr Danks and above the space for signature on behalf of the trustees and Company that:

“We hereby acknowledge the above reduction in pension benefits for this member, and confirm this alteration is being made under Clause 40 of the Scheme’s Rules.”

Part of Rule 40 is set out in Appendix A, paragraph 14.  The earlier part of that Rule, not set out, deals with formal amendments to the Scheme Rules before going on to deal with alteration or modifications affecting a member’s benefits being made, subject to that member’s written consent.  The Reduction in Benefits Statement was, in my view, not intended to operate as a formal amendment to the Scheme Rules but was instead to be a modification with consent.  The position seems to me to have been incorrectly represented to the Inland Revenue.

38.3 There is a suggestion that Regulation 6(3) of the Personal Pension Schemes (Transfer Payments) Regulations 1988 may have been overlooked.  Responsibility for compliance with that Regulation rests with the receiving scheme (Mr Danks’ SIPP) which is not a party to the matter before me.  I have noted that the Inland Revenue, at the Applicant’s behest, may commence an investigation into the Scheme and the transfer value paid to Mr Danks.  The Inland Revenue can order production of any documents it considers relevant to such investigation and it is not a matter I am pursuing.  

38.4 I do not accept the Applicant’s argument that post 1988 accruals can only be transferred out if the member remains in employment when his pensionable service ceases, which was Mr Danks’ position.  To the extent that the Applicant’s argument that the CETV was overpaid rests on the contention that the prior grant of augmented earlier retirement benefits is precluded, it follows that the Applicant’s criticisms of the CETV on the same basis are also incorrect.  It also follows that I do not need to deal further with the Applicant’s arguments at paragraph 41 et seq of Appendix C1.
38.5 Whether Mr Danks’ CETV (including his pre 1988 benefits) was pursuant to his right to a CETV or pursuant to trustee consent does not seem to me to be significant.  As the Applicant acknowledges, the issue is the amount of the CETV paid.   

38.6 There seems to be a difference of actuarial opinion as to whether Mr Danks’ CETV was overstated because an MFR underpin was wrongly applied to his pre 1988 benefits on the assumption that he had a right to an immediate unreduced pension from age 50.  The Applicant’s argument seems to me to be an example of allowing a search for trees to get in the way of sight of the wood.  The reality of the situation was that Mr Darks was prepared to surrender a substantial portion of his benefits provided that in so doing he did not leave the Scheme underfunded on an MFR basis.  How the calculation was made which led to the net figure he was prepared to accept does not seem to me a matter that is of critical importance.  Unless agreement was reached on the net figure his consent to the reduction would not have been forthcoming and the transfer would not have been made.  That would not have been to the net benefit of the Scheme.
39. Mr Danks, on my interpretation, was always at risk of finding that the Scheme would not pay to him the augmentations promised to him by the Company. That would be a promise he would need to pursue with the Company. In the event he chose not to pursue his full entitlement. 
40. In pursuing the matter at the Oral Hearing the solicitor representing the Applicant clearly saw importance in identifying whether the Respondents were relying on the 1990 or 1992 letters as the establishing the basis for the augmentations. Apart from the provisions about life assurance in the 1992 letter the augmentation is much the same as indicated in the 1990 letter. Bearing in mind that ultimately Mr Danks received a transfer value considerably less than under either letter I do not attach significance to the point. 
41. I have already mentioned Rule 18.  That Rule does not protect Mr Danks and/or Mr Prosser in the event of a breach of trust or duty which was a deliberate or culpable disregard of the interests of all or any of the beneficiaries under the Scheme. 
42. For the Applicant it is argued that there was a breach of trust in the trustees not taking legal advice before purporting to grant themselves additional benefits.  I have largely dealt with that already in the context of the decisions taken in 2000. If the criticism is of the decisions taken in 1990 and 1992 then it seems to be me to be based on a false premise that there was a need to take such legal advice at that time. 
43. The Applicant argues that even if the Company had power to augment, Mr Danks and Mr Prosser did not seek specifically up to date actuarial advice or additional funding and that the augmentations were solely for their personal benefit and amounted to a distribution of surplus for their own personal gain and in breach of their duty as trustees to protect Scheme members as a whole.

44. The reference to lack of up to date actuarial advice seems to me to be factually incorrect. The reference to additional funding, at least so far as Mr Danks is concerned, seems to me to fail to take account of the scaling back of his benefits so as to avoid the need to seek additional funding.  
45. I am surprised that the Applicant has not sought to withdraw its complaint so far as concerns Mr Prosser, in view of his reimbursement of the benefits he had obtained via the enhancement. I am not persuaded from the evidence before me that Mr Prosser has been in breach of trust in any of the ways alleged. I note that he had resigned as a trustee several years before a transfer value was paid to Mr Danks 
46. The Applicant further alleges that Mr Danks and Mr Prosser were in breach of trust in agreeing to terms in the Definitive Deed  which increased the Company’s power (by comparison with the Interim Deed) to fix employer contribution rates. It is submitted that they should have taken legal advice about executing the Definitive Deed and not relied on advice from Bacon & Woodrow. The Applicant’s argument seems in part to be that trustees cannot take account of any legal advice from any source other than a legal adviser appointed in accordance with Section 47 of the Pensions Act 1995. That is not what Section 47 says and would in any event be a nonsense. I have little doubt that many trustees, like me, are often sent gratuitous advice from law firms. Indeed many will attend conferences and seminars at which such general advice is given.  Nor is there a specific duty on trustees to appoint a legal adviser. 
47. The Applicant had made submissions based on Mr Brooke’s lack of knowledge of the transfer. Those submissions fell in light of the evidence that Mr Brooke was aware and indeed (although he could not recall so doing) did not deny that he had signed the cheque. In addition he accepted that he had signed a form authorising the disinvestment from the Scheme.  
48. Despite the Applicant’s further arguments that Mr Danks showed a “deliberate and culpable disregard” for other member of the Scheme and that he acted in breach of trust, I am of the view that there has been no breach of trust or other culpable act.  I do not need further to consider the effect of Rule 18.  

DAVID LAVERICK
Pensions Ombudsman

16 August 2007

APPENDIX A
MATERIAL FACTS  
49. The Scheme was set up by an Interim Trust Deed dated 22 July 1986 made between Ionic Plating Company Limited (which company was later succeeded by the Company) and Mr Danks and Mr Prosser.  Mr Prosser remained a trustee of the Scheme until 27 May 1994 when he retired and was replaced by Mr Brooke.  Mr Danks and Mr Brooke continued as trustees until they were removed by a Deed of Removal dated 17 December 2002 executed by the Applicant.   

50. Clause 3 of the Interim Deed provided for the execution of a Definitive Trust Deed with Rules containing the full provisions of the Scheme and went on to say:

“…the said Deed and Rules shall contain such provisions as may be agreed between the Principal Employer and the Trustees and in particular they may contain provisions enabling the trust powers and provisions thereof to be altered or modified and that any alteration or modification thereof may have retrospective effect”

51. In 1990 discussions took place with Bacon & Woodrow, the Scheme’s administrators, about benefit improvements for Mr Danks and Mr Prosser.  Bacon & Woodrow wrote to Mr Danks on 4 May 1990 saying:

“Currently your and [Mr Prosser’s] normal pension age is 65 and, at that age you will be entitled to a pension equal to 39/60ths of your final salary……[Your pension] will increase, once in payment, by 2.5% per annum.  It would be possible to improve these benefits both by improving their quality (eg higher post retirement increases) as well as advancing them to an earlier age.  The earliest age from which they would be payable (if no advantage is taken of the Finance Act 1989) is age 60 and you could each be entitled to a full two thirds pension from age 60 together with post retirement increases.”

52. The letter referred to options introduced by the Finance Act 1990 which would allow Mr Danks to draw a full two-thirds pension from age 55, subject to certain restrictions, including “capping” his earnings for pension purposes.  The earnings cap was then £64,800 but would rise in line with prices.  Bacon & Woodrow advised that Mr Danks’ earnings, although then considerably lower than that figure, would “almost certainly” rise faster than prices.  If Mr Danks declared his intention to retire at age 55 and to accept the new capped regime then the Scheme could be funded on that basis, ie Mr Danks would be entitled to a full two thirds pension at age 55.  Bacon & Woodrow warned that if Mr Danks decided to not to retire at 55 he could continue in service, but would be unable to renounce the earnings cap.  

53. Bacon & Woodrow’s letter dated 31 May 1990 set out the costs to the Scheme of improving Mr Danks’ and Mr Prosser’s Scheme benefits by way of a reduction to NRA to 60 (from 65) for Mr Danks and to 62 for Mr Prosser, together with improved post retirement pension increases.  The last actuarial valuation of the Scheme (as at 31 December 1988) had indicated a surplus of £737,000.  Bacon & Woodrow calculated that the benefit improvements for both Mr Danks and Mr Prosser would absorb £57,000 of the surplus.  Bacon & Woodrow suggested that the improvements could be implemented by exchange of letters and attached draft letters.  

54. A letter was sent to Mr Danks on 31 August 1990.  The letter was written on Ionic’s headed paper but signed “For and on behalf of the Scheme Trustees.”  The letter said:

“The Trustees of the [Scheme] have agreed that … the following special provisions will apply in your case.

1. Your Normal Retiring Date (NRD) shall be the day before your 60th birthday.

2. Your pension at NRD shall be two-thirds of your Final Pensionable Earnings (FPE).

3. Your deferred pension on leaving service before NRD will be two-thirds of your FPE at the date of leaving, multiplied by the ration by which actual service to date of leaving (N) bears to potential service to NRD (NS).

4. The pension payable to your widow on your death before NRD will be four-ninths of your FPE at the date of your death.  

5. The pension payable to your widow on your death after NRD will be two-thirds of your pension (ignoring any part commuted for a lump sum).

6. Once you have attained age 50, you will have the choice on ceasing employment to take an immediate early retirement pension.  In these circumstances you will have the option of having your pension calculated as in the case of leaving service (see 3. above) or under the provisions of the 1989 Finance Act.  In neither case will there be any reduction for early payment.  

The latter option would give rise to an immediate pension calculated as 1/30th of FPE for each year (and proportionately for completed months) of your Pensionable Service to early retirement, subject to a maximum of two-thirds of FPE. FPE in this context will be limited to the statutory earnings cap (current £64,800 but increased annually in line with the Retail Prices Index).

7. References to pensions increases in payment made in the member’s booklet are to be replaced in your case by annual increases linked to the change in the Retail Price Index (or such other Index as may be substituted by the Government).

8. In all other respects the terms and conditions set out in the members’ booklet continue to apply to you.

9. Please indicate your acceptance of these conditions by signing, dating, and returning one copy of this letter.  You should retain the other copy for reference.  

55. Mr Danks signed the letter on 3 September 1990.

56. On 23 November 1992 letters were sent on Ionic’s notepaper to Mr Danks and Mr Prosser.  Mr Prosser signed the letter to Mr Danks; Mr Danks  signed the letter to Mr Prosser.  The letters were in identical terms and said:

“The provisions of the attached Booklet apply equally to you with the following exceptions:

1.
Your [NRD] shall be the day before your 60th birthday. (page 5)

2.
Your pension at NRD shall be two-thirds of your Final Pensionable Earnings (FPE). (page 5)

3.
Your deferred pension on leaving service before NRD will be two-thirds of your FPE at the date of leaving, multiplied by the ratio by which actual service to date of leaving (N) bears to potential service NRD (NS). (section 18)

4.
In the event of your death in Pensionable Service before NRD the life assurance benefit will be five times your Annual Earnings (see section 12).  Any part of the life assurance benefit which cannot because of Inland Revenue requirements be paid as a lump sum will be used to provide additional pension for your widow or other financial dependants.

5.
The pension payable to your widow on your death before NRD will be four-ninths of your FPE at the date of your death.  (see section 12)

6.
The pension payable to your widow on your death after NRD will be two-thirds of your pension (ignoring any part commuted for a lump sum).  (See section 13)

7.
On ceasing employment prior to NRD, you will have the choice of taking an immediate early retirement pension.  In these circumstances you will have the option of having your pension calculated as in the case of leaving service (see 3. above) or under the provisions of the 1989 Finance Act.  In neither case will there be any reduction for early payment. (see section 8)

The latter option would give rise to an immediate pension calculated as 1/30th of FPE for each year (and proportionately for completed months) of your Pensionable Service to early retirement, subject to a maximum of two-thirds FPE.  FPE in this context will be limited to the statutory earnings cap (currently £75,000 but increased annually in line with the Retail Prices Index).

8.
References to pension increases in payment made in the Member’s Booklet are to be replaced in your case by annual increases linked to the change in the Retail Price Index (or such other Index as may be substituted by the Government). (see section 16).”

57. A new Member’s Booklet was distributed in December 1992.  That booklet set out that a member’s NRD was the day before his 65th birthday.  Benefits at NRD were based on 1/60th of final pensionable earnings for each complete year of pensionable service.  A widow’s pension was payable on death in service before NRD based on 1/160th of final pensionable earnings for each complete year of service or, on death as a pensioner, one half of the pension paid.  The Scheme provided for pensions in excess of the GMP to increase at the rate of 2.5% compound per annum.   

58. A Definitive Trust Deed and Rules was executed on 11 December 1992.  Clause 2 of the Deed said:

“The Rules are hereby established and brought into operation as from the said 24th day of July 1986 and the Scheme shall as from that date be administered and managed and have effect as provided by the Rules and the Trustees …. shall and will administer and manage the Scheme in accordance with the Rules for the time being in force.”

59. Rule 34(A)(ii) said:

“At the request of the Employers and upon the Employers increasing the contributions to be provided by them under Rule 11(B) by such amount (if any) as is in the opinion of the Trustees necessary the Trustees shall provide such additional benefits (including increases to pensions and annuities currently payable) under the Scheme as the Employers shall in their absolute discretion determine Provided that

(a) any such additional benefit shall be consistent with Inland Revenue approval and

(b) any additional Death Benefit shall be subject to such limitations in amount or special conditions as may from time to time be imposed under any Policy held in the Fund by which such benefit is provided.”

(“the Employers” were defined as meaning the Principal Company, ie the Company and any associated company.)  

60. Rule 36(A) said:

“A Member

(1) whose Pensionable Service terminates before Normal Retiring Date and

(2) who on the date on which his Pensionable Service terminates has accrued rights to benefits under the Scheme or would have had such accrued rights if his Service had terminated on that date and 

(3) who has become a member of a Receiving Scheme

shall at any time before [NRD] upon giving notice in writing with the requisite details to the Trustees (in such form as they shall from time to time determine) so long as no part of the pension then applicable in respect of him has become payable have the right … to require the Trustees to transfer or cause to be transferred … such part of the Fund as the Trustees shall determine to be appropriate having regard to the rights and benefits applicable to or arising on account of him under these Rules (excluding if the Trustees so determine guaranteed minimum pension or accrued rights to guaranteed minimum pension) which are to be transferred to the Receiving Scheme.”

61. Rule 18 said:

(A) No decision or exercise of a power or discretion by the Trustees shall be invalidated or questioned on the ground that the Trustees or any of them or any director or officer or shareholder of a Trustee which is a body corporate had a direct or other personal interest in the mode or result of such decision or of exercising such power or discretion.

(B) No Trustee (and in the case of a body corporate no Director Secretary or Officer of a Trustee) shall be liable in respect of any act done or omitted to be done or for any breach of trust or duty or for any omission whatsoever unless it is proved that its commission or omission constituted a fraud by the Trustee as aforesaid (of the Director Secretary or Officer of the Trustee as aforesaid) or was a deliberate and culpable disregard by such person of the interests of all or any of the beneficiaries under the Scheme.”

62. Rule 40 contained a power to alter or modify any of the provisions of the Scheme, subject to the following proviso:

“… no such alteration or modification as aforesaid shall be made which would have the effect of varying or affecting any benefits (whether immediate or prospective ..) applicable to Pensionable Service completed before the alteration or modification … without the consent in writing of any Member affected thereby.” 

63. Bacon & Woodrow wrote to Mr Danks on 13 January 1993 with a copy of the triennial Scheme valuation as at 31 December 1991 which showed a surplus of £171,000.  That compared with a surplus of £737,000 in the previous valuation (as at 31 December 1988, as mentioned above).  Bacon & Woodrow commented:

“One point which should be made concerns your own pension position.  For the purposes of the Valuation we have assumed that you will retire at age 60.  However, you do have the option of taking early retirement at any time after age 50.

I have, therefore, looked at the effect on the Scheme’s financial position of your retiring at age 55.

This would reduce the surplus at the Valuation Date by some £40,000 and increase the long term contribution requirement by about 0.4% of total Pensionable Earnings.”

64. Mr Danks asked Bacon & Woodrow to explain the reduction in the surplus.  In their letter dated 12 February 1993 Bacon & Woodrow listed a number of factors which had led to the reduction in the surplus, including the Company’s contribution holiday, benefit improvements for Mr Danks and Mr Prosser and salary increases, principally in relation to Mr Danks and Mr Prosser.   

65. The next actuarial valuation of the Scheme, undertaken as at 31 December 1994, showed a past-service surplus of £2,000 which corresponded to a funding ratio of 100%.  Following that valuation the Company agreed to commence contributions at the rate of 13.4% of pensionable earnings until the outcome of the next valuation, due at 31 December 1997.  

66. In 1996 Mr Danks sought an illustration of his benefits at age 50.  Bacon & Woodrow wrote to him on 15 November 1996.  The letter said (referring to the letter dated 23 November 1992) that, as Mr Danks had more than 20 years’ service, his pension at age 50 would be two-thirds of his final pensionable earnings with the option of taking a tax free cash sum and a reduced pension.  About the funding of the Scheme the letter said:

“As your early retirement pension is payable without any reduction, then there would be a significant additional liability on the Scheme if you retire before age 60.  If you retire at age 50 on the above pension (ignoring future salary growth), we estimate that the additional cost (currently unfunded) to the Scheme would be approximately £150,000.  This cost is based on the same assumptions as were used in the funding valuation as at 1 January 1995, but is subject to increase if your salary increases. 

67. The letter continued:

“Your early retirement would have a major impact on the “maturity” of the Scheme (in other words, a significant proportion of the Scheme’s liabilities would relate to pensions in payment).  Given the tight solvency position revealed at the last valuation and the impending requirement to maintain a Minimum Funding level, it is important that

(a) sufficient funding is put in place sooner rather than later, and

(b) the Trustees carefully consider their investment strategy.  A move towards gilt investment has already commenced and this will have to be reassessed at the next valuation if you do intend to retire early.”

68. An actuarial valuation of the Scheme (dated 22 December 1998) as at 31 December 1997 showed a slightly improved past service position, a surplus of £131,000 which equated to a Minimum Funding Requirement (MFR) basis of 105%.    The valuation recommended Company contributions at the rate of 11.2% of pensionable earnings.  The next triennial valuation was due on 31 December 2000.

69. A minute of a meeting which took place on 19 January 1999 records that the Company was required to ensure that its contributions for the five year period 1 January 1999 to 31 January 2004 were received by the trustees on or by 31 December in each year.  The Schedule of Contributions signed by the Company on the same date records that for that five year period the Company had agreed to contribute 15.8% of pensionable earnings.   

70. Later in 1999 there was correspondence between Mr Mark Frost, the Scheme Actuary, of Bacon & Woodrow, and Mr Robert Garvin of Garvin &Co, actuaries, instructed by Mr Danks in his personal capacity.  In a letter dated 15 July 1999 to Mr Garvin, Mr Frost said that he had calculated Mr Danks’ transfer value to be £529,230, based on an assumed date of leaving pensionable service of 30 September 1999 and market conditions as at 30 June 1999.  

71. Mr Frost wrote on 16 July 1999 to Mr Danks saying: 

“As you are aware, I have been asked to calculate a transfer value in respect of your benefits in the [S]cheme.

Your special terms are described to you in a letter from Mr Prosser dated 23 November 1992.  Section 3 of the letter describes the calculation of your deferred pension, payable from age 60, which I have calculated would be approximately £38,800 per annum if you were to leave the Scheme on 30 September 1999.  

However, section 7 of the letter gives you a right to a pension of two-thirds of Final Pensionable Earnings if you retire from employment before age 60.  Although the letter does not state it this option is not available, under pensions legislation, until age 50.

The value of your benefits under section 7 is significantly greater than under section 3; we have pointed out, in correspondence at the last two actuarial valuations, that if you retire early there would be a significant adverse impact on the Scheme’s funding.

My understanding is that the trustees have accepted the Company’s promise to you of a two-thirds pension from age 60, and the Scheme has therefore been funded on this basis.  I therefore believe that the trustees could reasonably make available a transfer of your benefits as described in section 3. This is the figure of about £530,000 quoted in the enclosed copy letter to Robert Garvin.

It is possible that you may wish to seek a higher transfer value which incorporates value for the special early payment terms of section 7.  However, my advice to the trustees is that such a transfer value cannot be paid without significant additional contributions, by the Company, to cover the cost.  I have not calculated the amount of the additional contribution which would be necessary, but have estimated it to be in the order of £2m.”

72. Mr Garvin wrote to Mr Frost on 22 July 1999.  Mr Garvin said that Mr Danks was entitled, in accordance with the Company’s letter of 23 November 1992, to leave employment on his 50th birthday and draw an immediate early retirement pension equal to two-thirds of his final pensionable earnings (subject to the earnings cap).  Mr Garvin calculated that pension at about £56,000 per annum and Mr Danks’ cash equivalent transfer value to be around £1.2 million.  

73. Mr Frost replied on 2 August 1999, with a copy to Mr Danks, saying that the trustees might need to seek legal advice as to whether the terms of the letter dated 23 November 1992 were binding upon the trustees.  Mr Frost went on:

“… in consultation with the trustees at the last few funding reviews since 1992, the Scheme has been funded on the basis that Mr Danks retires at age 60 on a “two-thirds” pension with a two-thirds pension payable to his spouse on his death, and with fully inflation-linked pension increases.  …As the funding is in place to support the benefits on expected retirement at age 60, then I am reasonably comfortable with advising the trustees that a transfer value of those benefits could be paid.

However, my recent letter to Mr Danks (and, indeed, advice given at successive valuations) noted that the value of a full pension, calculated in accordance with Section 7 of the [23 November] 1992 letter from the Company as being payable from age 50, could not be paid without significant additional funding from the Company.  Indeed, the Company’s augmentation power is only exercisable on receipt of additional funding as determined by the trustees.”

74. In October 1999 Mr Danks, as a trustee of the Scheme, sought legal advice from Eversheds, solicitors.  As existing advisors to the Company, Eversheds declined to advise the trustees formally but did provide advice to the Company.  Such advice appears initially to have been given on the basis that the Scheme did not contain any augmentation power.  However, Eversheds’ letter of 19 November 1999 to Mr Danks dealt with Clause 34(A)(ii) and said:

“The trustees, when faced with a request by the employer to agree to an augmentation would be expected to seek the advice of the scheme actuary as to whether the scheme could sustain the benefit improvement without additional contributions and, if not, the additional contribution necessary.  Even if the actuary indicated that the Scheme required no additional funding at the time of granting the augmentations, the trustees would always wish to ensure that the cost of the benefits was taken into account fully by the actuary in subsequent actuarial valuations and when setting the future contribution rate.

From the correspondence I have seen the full cost has not been taken into account and there is now a shortfall in providing the enhanced benefit somewhere in the region of £150,000.

The trustees could not therefore feel comfortable in meeting the fully enhanced benefit at the expense of other members, knowing the benefit has not been fully funded for.  They would risk a potential claim from aggrieved members who saw their benefits diminished as a result.

However, you have indicated that this is not your intention and that the proposal is that the benefits of all other scheme members should be met at 100% of the MFR value, leaving a small cushion of approximately 1% in the funding level on top.  The balance would then be applied to meet as much of your enhanced benefit as possible, with the amount calculated by the Scheme actuary being paid as a transfer value.

As advisor to the Company, I believe this is a proposal which the Trustees ought to find acceptable and that this proposal should be put forward to Bacon & Woodrow as Scheme Actuary and advisers to the Trustees.”

75. In a letter to Mr Danks dated 13 January 2000 Mr Frost, referring to an estimate of the funding position of the Scheme as at 31 December 1999 which he had carried out, said:

“The Scheme is very tightly funded on the [MFR].  If the funding level falls below the MFR, then the trustees will need to seek additional funding from the Company.  In addition, the MFR is the basis on which cash equivalent transfer values are based.  I have therefore concentrated on this measure of the Scheme’s position.

The Scheme had a surplus of 5% of MFR liabilities at 31 December 1997 (with your pension payable from age 60).  Although the assets (net of cashflow) have increased by some £900,000 since then, my very approximate calculations suggest that the MFR liabilities have increased by about £1,240,000.  This is because the increase in value of the assets has corresponded with a fall in market yields which acts to increase the MFR liabilities.  It should be noted that the assets are mismatched against the liabilities which means that the movements in assets and liabilities do not correspond.

The overall effect is that the assets at 31 December 1999 are approximately 95% of the MFR liabilities.  This deterioration in MFR position is common with the experience of many other schemes.

A more accurate assessment, for example, a full valuation at December 1999, may show a different position.  However, in my view, it is unlikely that the result would enable the Trustees to be able to agree to transfer anything more than the cash equivalent of benefits for any member which, in your case, may be based on pension from age 60 without additional contributions required.

I have estimated the cash equivalent value of your benefits, on the above basis, at 31 December 1999 as approximately £580,000.  I am afraid that this is the maximum that can be paid on my advice in the post-Pensions Act 1995 era.”

76. The Company failed to pay its annual contributions due on 31 December 1999.  Mr Danks reported that failure to Bacon & Woodrow.  With their letter to Mr Danks dated 25 April 2000 Bacon & Woodrow enclosed a copy of their report to OPRA  Bacon & Woodrow (after advising as to the requirement to notify all members as to the non payment) commented:

“According to our calculations, the scheme was just above the [MFR] at 31 December 1999 and so the pension situation is not as “bad” as it could be.  However, in my view, the trustees should decide whether the scheme can be continued or not.  If there is very little prospect of any future company contributions then it should be considered whether to discontinue the scheme.

If the company formally terminates its liability to continue then, under Rule 42, the trustees must decide whether to wind up the scheme, or run it as a “paid up” fund.  To help with a decision on which option is in the members’ best interests, I could estimate the cost of winding up (ie securing the benefits with an insurance company).  There may also be a “debt on the employer”; I would have to calculate whether a debt exists, in accordance with prescribed methods and assumptions.

If, however, the company does not terminate its liability to contribute, then the outstanding contributions are a debt on the employer and the trustees may decide to continue the scheme if they believe that to be in the members’ best interests.  The main test would be if the [MFR} position deteriorates at the next annual check (31 December 2000) which could “force the trustees hands”, and would lead to more notices to the members.”

77. OPRA wrote to the trustees, via Mr Danks, asking what action was to be taken in relation to the Scheme.  Mr Danks replied saying that the Scheme actuaries had been asked to prepare a full valuation indicating the Scheme funding position as at 31 December 1999 which had shown a MFR funding level of 104.7% or 107% if the balance of assets was transferred to gilts.  Mr Danks confirmed that members had been notified of the non payment of the 1999 contributions by letter dated 27 April 2000.  He said that the trustees were waiting for the Scheme actuary to advise as to the contributions required for the next three years.  The Company would then be asked whether payment would be forthcoming and, if the response was no, then the trustees would decide whether the Scheme should be terminated or suspended or be self funding in the short term.  OPRA acknowledged receipt and asked to be kept informed.

78. Mr Frost left his employment with Bacon & Woodrow on 10 July 2000 to join Garvin & Co.  At a trustees’ meeting on 3 July 2000 it was agreed that Mr Frost be re-appointed as Scheme Actuary at Garvin & Co.

79. On 18 August 2000 Mr Frost wrote to Mr Danks saying:

“I have spent some time reviewing the current transfer value which would be available in respect of your benefits from the [Scheme].  Please bear in mind that I am advising you as a trustee.

If you were to leave service this month then your pension entitlement, as per paragraph 6 of the letter dated 31 August 1990, would be two-thirds of your final pensionable earnings (if you opt for post-89 limits, which I assume you would do).  Based on the latest data I have, this gives rise to an immediate pension of £57,057 p a, or (instead) as cash equivalent transfer value of £1,371,774.  Some of this is Guaranteed Minimum Pension and some is for service since 5 April 1997 – these two elements cannot be transferred to a contracted-in scheme or SIPP.  The value of these two elements is £209,000 currently.

Unfortunately, neither of the above options can be afforded from the Scheme: notwithstanding that they are your entitlement, the trustees have to act in the interests of all members and in your particular case, there are potential conflicts of interest too.  The agreement of the Trustees to an augmentation of benefits is conditional on there being sufficient contributions from the Company.

However I understand that you would be willing to accept reduced benefits to the extent that the liabilities for other members in the Scheme are covered 100% under the [MFR].  The letter from Eversheds as advisor to the Company, dated 19 November 1999, suggests that this approach should be acceptable to the Trustees – I would recommend that the Trustees seek a similar legal opinion before any transfer is paid.

On the basis that it is acceptable for your benefits to be reduced to a level which leaves the remaining Scheme 100% funded on the MFR, then at 31 December 1999 the value available for your benefits was £766,000.  Allowing for market movements since then, this figure has unfortunately reduced to around £655,000 (ie the value of the Scheme’s liabilities under the MFR have increased, whereas the assets have probably hardly moved, so there is less available above the MFR level – although I have not contacted the investment managers on this).  Furthermore, allowing for the retention of Post 1997 benefits, and GMP, at their full value in the Scheme (as quoted earlier), this leaves £446,000 available for transfer to a SIPP.  (Your GMP and Post-97 benefits would be retained in the [Scheme] in full in addition.)

The next problem is that the trustees are not permitted to transfer a cash equivalent which reduces the ‘Pre 97 non-GMP’ benefits below the level shown on the latest MFR Statement – my estimate of this at 31 December 1999 is that transfers will have to be at least 100% of GMP and Post-97 benefits, and 60% of remaining benefits (Bacon & Woodrow will probably do the definitive calculation of this, as part of the valuation).  This means that the minimum the trustees could transfer to your SIPP, if all my estimates are correct, is about 60% x (£1,371,774 - £209,000) = £697,664.  My interpretation of the legislation is that you could take this transfer as of right (once the MFR statement at 31 December 1999 is finalised).  In order for the trustees to achieve a transfer at all, then, the Company would have to contribute around £250,000 (being £697,664 - £446,000) over the next few years, in addition to the normal contribution requirement, to bring the MFR back up to 100%.

It seems to me that your only alternative (apart from remaining in the Scheme and doing nothing about your pension benefits until age 60) is to retire on a pension which the Trustees can approve without further capital required from the Company.  This would be about 50% of your full entitlement, ie about £28,500 pa a (or a tax free cash of £96,107 plus a reduced pension of around £23,300 p a.)  Please not that, all the time the Scheme remains open, the active members are accruing more benefits in respect of which the Company has to contribute in order for the MFR position not to deteriorate further.”

80. Mr Frost wrote to Mr Danks further on 24 August 2000.  Mr Frost said:

“I understand that your objective is to take a transfer value of your benefits to a [SIPP], while at the same time leaving the [Scheme] 100% funded on the [MFR] at 31 December 1999.

The value on the [MFR] was set out in my letter of 18 February 2000, based on the data as summarised with that letter, and I have also since receive audited accounts at 31 December 1999.  Those calculations include value for your benefits payable from age 60 but you have since sent me a copy of a letter dated 31 August 1990 which sets out special terms on retirement from age 50.  As discussed, these have not been funded for and so the ‘true’ MFR level is significantly below 100%.

However, you have indicated that you would be prepared to accept a reduced level of benefits in order to maintain the MFR funding at 100% at 31 December 1999.  I suggest the following:

You could agree with the Trustees that the terms of the letter dated 31 August 1990 should be reduced, in view of the funding status of the Scheme, so that your benefit is based on 60ths with Normal Retirement Age 65 (as for all members) rather than the target ‘two-thirds’ at age 60.  The ability to retire on unreduced pension from age 50 would be maintained but limited only to pension in respect of pensionable service up to 5 April 1997.

In this circumstance the current transfer value of your benefits would be as follows (based on Final Pensionable Earnings of £85,585.33 p a):

Value in excess of GMP, for pre April ’97 service = £688,830

Value of GMP = £29,200

Value of post April ’97 benefits (depending on date of leaving) = £40,600

The first item could be transferred to a [SIPP], while the GMP and Post April 97 benefits would be maintained in the [Scheme] as deferred pensions payable from age 65.  If you agreed to the reduction in benefits and took the transfer value available, then the remaining scheme is 100% funded on the MFR at 31 December 1999.

It seems to me that agreeing to a reduction in benefits, of this magnitude, is the only way in which the funding level of the Scheme can be ‘protected’ without requiring significant additional funding from the Company.”

81. Mr Frost wrote to Mr Danks on 1 September 2000.  The letter enclosed a statement signed by Mr Frost setting out Mr Danks’ transfer value (based on a leaving date of 1 September 2000) which, in part, said:

“The cash equivalent transfer value of Mr Danks’ benefits in the [Scheme], excluding the value of [GMP] earned before 6th April 1997 and contracted- out salary related benefits earned since 6th April 1997, is £689,133 at 31 August 2000.

This value makes allowance for the member’s entitlement to draw the above pension from any age over 50.”

82.  The letter also enclosed a form, addressed to the trustees of the Scheme, for signature by Mr Danks, consenting to a reduction in his Scheme benefits. The form said:

“REDUCTION IN BENEFITS

The benefits payable to me, under the Scheme, are described in a letter to me dated 31st August 1990, which provided for special terms of membership.

In view of the current funding position of the Scheme I hereby consent to a reduction in my pension benefits, to the following scale:

1.
Normal Retiring Date is the day before my 65th birthday.

2.
Pension will be calculated as 1/60th of Final Pensionable Earnings for each year of service.

3.
Pension payable to my widow on my death, either before or after retirement, will be two thirds of the pension payable to me including increases to the date of death, and ignoring any commutation for lump sum.

4.
In respect of service prior to 1st April 1997, pension may be paid without reduction on retirement at any age from 50.

5.
Pension increases in payment, other than on GMPs where statutory increases apply, will be based on increases in the Retail Price Index.

6.
In all other respects, the terms and conditions of the Scheme apply.”

83. Mr Danks signed the form in his capacity as a member.  It was signed on behalf of the Company by Ronald Victor Jones, another director, on 5 September 2000.  Mr Brooks signed on behalf of the trustees on the same date, acknowledging:

“We hereby acknowledge the above reduction in pension benefits for this member, and confirm this alteration is being made under Clause 40 of the Scheme’s Rules.” 

84. On 2 October 2000 a transfer payment of £689,133 was made in respect of Mr Danks’ Scheme benefits to M H Trustees Limited, the trustees of the receiving scheme (a SIPP).

85. An actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 31 December 1999 but dated 27 October 2000 prepared by Mr Frost concluded that on the MFR basis the funding level of the Scheme was 100%.  Paragraph 1.5 recorded that since the previous valuation (as at 31 December 1997) members had contributed to the Scheme at the rate of 5% of pensionable earnings and that the Company had not contributed to the Scheme.  Paragraph 2.7 recorded that Mr Frost had allowed for the reduction in value of Mr Danks’ benefits and his leaving pensionable service in August 2000.  Paragraph 3.8 stated that the Company had agreed, in the light of the valuation, to recommence contributions (13% of pensionable earnings) from November 2000 and also to make an additional payment of £75,000 before 31 October 2001.  

86. OPRA wrote to the trustees, again via Mr Danks, on 7 November 2000 having previously written (without receiving a reply) on 8 August 2000, 4 and 18 September 2000.  Mr Danks had spoken over the telephone to OPRA on 28 September 2000.  Mr Danks wrote to OPRA on 10 November 2000 enclosing a copy of the recently completed December 1999 valuation and referring to a delay in the sale of premises owned by the Company (the “Dudley site”), completion of which would enable the Company to make up its contributions and advising that, in the meantime, factoring finance had been secured, to enable the Company to continue operating and to meet its financial obligations.

87. The minutes of a trustees’ meeting which took place on 23 November 2000 recorded that the Company had commenced contributions to the Scheme for the current year with outstanding sums to be paid after the disposal of the Dudley site.

88. OPRA wrote to Mr Danks again on 14 February 2001 querying the lack of appointment of member-nominated trustees.  Mr Danks supplied a copy of the notice that had been sent to members opting out of the requirement to have such trustees.  On 18 April 2001 OPRA wrote to Mr Frost and Mr Danks saying that it did not propose to take any further action regarding the Scheme and that its file was closed.  

89. On 19 June 2001 the Company went into voluntary liquidation.  The trustees subsequently resolved to wind up the Scheme from that date.  An interim actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 19 June 2001 showed that the Scheme had a deficit on the MFR basis of £257,000 which corresponded to a funding ratio of 93%.  

90. The Applicant was appointed as independent trustee to the Scheme by Deed dated 18 October 2001.    Mr Danks and Mr Brooke were removed as trustees by deed dated 17 December 2002.

91. The Applicant, after seeking actuarial advice, formed the view that Mr Danks’ transfer value had been overpaid.  Mr Prosser’s Scheme benefits had already been put into payment and CWB considered that those benefits too were being overpaid.  The Applicant, in a letter to Mr Prosser dated 17 January 2003, requested repayment of £57,808, failing which Mr Prosser’s pension payments would be suspended, until such time as that amount had been recovered, with Mr Prosser’s annual pension being reduced in any event.    

92. Cox Cooper, solicitors, instructed by Mr Prosser, wrote to the Applicant on 24 February 2003.  They said that their client accepted that the benefit improvements purportedly granted to him and Mr Danks in 1990 and 1992 were defective, on the basis that the Interim Deed of Trust which governed the Scheme at the time did not contain an augmentation power and that the interests of the Scheme members as a whole had not been properly considered.  The letter enclosed Mr Prosser’s cheque for £57,808.  Mr Prosser agreed to accept a reduction to his pension of £4,859.15 per annum from 1 March 2003.  

93. The Applicant wrote to Mr Brooke who replied on 3 April 2003.  He said that he agreed that his approval of Mr Danks’ transfer payment was in breach of trust and he agreed that the payment ought to be returned to the Scheme.

94. The Applicant had also written to Mr Danks and to M H Trustees Limited. M H Trustees Limited referred the matter to their solicitors, Nabarro Nathanson.  The Applicant had instructed solicitors, George Green, who wrote to Nabarro Nathanson on 10 April 2003 requesting repayment of the full transfer value paid of £689,133 or, alternatively, a payment of £451,000 being the difference between the amount paid and the amount the Applicant considered ought to have been paid, plus interest.  Nabarro Nathanson replied that it was liaising with Pinsents, solicitors instructed by Mr Danks, saying that either Nabarro Nathanson or Pinsents would respond substantively to the issues raised.    

95. Pinsents wrote to George Green on 15 May 2003 maintaining that Mr Danks had acted lawfully throughout.  Mr Frost, the Scheme actuary wrote to George Green on 13 June 2003 denying that he had acted improperly or that the Scheme had suffered loss.  

96. Correspondence continued but the matter was not resolved and the Applicant made an application to me.   

[END]

APPENDIX B

EVIDENCE FROM ORAL HEARING

97. Mr Frost gave evidence that he had raised concerns about whether Mr Danks’ special terms were binding on the trustees of the Scheme but that those concerns had been dispelled once he had seen a copy of a letter dated 31 August 1990 signed by the trustees and detailing the same benefit enhancements as in the November 1992 letter from the Company.  Although, in light of the earlier letter he no longer had concern as to whether the terms were binding on the trustees he remained concerned that the Scheme could not afford fully to provide the special terms and he advised Mr Danks that a transfer could only be afforded if Mr Danks agreed to a reduction in his benefits. Mr Danks did then agree to a reduction of his benefits to a level which had no adverse effect on other Scheme members.

98. Mr Frost stated that the Scheme’s MFR funding position was not affected by the transfer payment although was significantly improved by the reduction in Mr Danks benefit.

99. Mr Frost was asked to comment on a witness statement from a Mr Atkin, an actuary which had been prepared at the request of the solicitor representing the Applicant at the Oral Hearing after seeing a statement of the evidence from Mr Frost. 

100. Mr Atkin had suggested that although Mr Danks appeared to have the option to retire on full benefits at any time after age 50, the funding of the Scheme as agreed between the trustees and the Company had been on the assumption that benefits would be payable from age 60 and such assumption may have been carried though to the assessment of the MFR funding. Mr Frost confirmed that this was correct and that it had always been his understanding that Mr Danks would retire at age 60 with all valuations from 1998 onwards being made on that basis. Although a full 2/3rds pension would be payable only on termination of Mr Danks’ employment it was in Mr Frost’s view properly in accord with GN11 to allow for this in the MFR calculation. Such calculations needed to allow for options even if those options were not triggered. 

101. The two actuaries were agreed that if the full transfer value had been paid this would have placed such a funding strain on the Scheme so as to trigger its wind up. Mr Atkin suggested that if the funding was in place to cover immediate payment of Mr Danks’ reduced benefits, there would be advantage to the Scheme in Mr Danks remaining as a member. Mr Frost’s view was that it was not in Mr Danks’ interest to transfer.

102. Mr Frost said that the main reasons why the MFR assessment at June 2001 showed a deficit of about £250k were poor investment returns and the non-payment of contributions from the Company. The deficit was not due to the transfer payment. The deficit would still have been about £200k if Mr Danks had not transferred out of the Scheme and would have been much greater if Mr Danks had not agreed to reduce his benefits. This had been explained to the Applicant in 2002 and not been challenged at the time. 

103. Mr Atkins had commented that Mr Frost had indicated an MFR deficit of £250k on 18 August 2000 which had reduced to nil on 24 August.  Mr Frost said the difference reflected Mr Danks’ agreement to reduce his benefits which affected his post 1997 benefits more than his pre 1997 benefits, Immediately after Mr Danks transferred out the Scheme was 100% funded on an MFR basis. 

104. Mr Frost said it was usual for pension consultants to be involved in drafting documents for a pension scheme even though they were not lawyers. Thus Bacon & Woodrow, by whom Mr Frost was then employed, drafted the 1990 letter and the Scheme booklet.

105. In cross examination Mr Frost said that he had regarded the 1992 letter as a contractual promise by the Company. There was a point in time when he had queried whether this was binding on the trustees but the issue was resolved when he had sight of the 1990 letter to which the trustees were a party. It had been clear throughout the 1990s that the generous terms were not being pre-funded. This was consistent with IR practice at the time. The Company could choose to fulfil the promise in the 1992 letter through the Scheme.

106. Mr Frost stated that successive valuations by himself and his predecessors had allowed for the special benefits (other than early retirement terms) for Mr Danks and Mr Prosser. Assessments were based on reasonable and realistic assumptions. These included the knowledge that Mr Danks was intending to retire at age 60. The 1997 valuation had, due to an oversight, not taken account of the early retirement options. 

107. Mr Frost had himself drafted the reductions in benefit letter which referred to a Scheme amendment. He had not been appointed as a legal adviser to the Scheme in accordance with Section 47 of the Trustee Act. His appointment was as Scheme Actuary and his firm were advisers to the Scheme. 

108. Mr Brooke was questioned by Mr Newman on behalf of Mr Danks particularly in relation to Mr Brooke’s questioning of Mr Danks’ probity. Mr Brooke said that he had not been shown Clause 5.4 of the Interim Trust Deed dated 22 July 1986 which contained a clause exonerating trustees from liability save for wilful default before he had agreed with the Applicant that there had been a breach of trust. 

109. Mr Brooke accepted that, despite previous contrary statements, he had been aware of the amount of Mr Danks’ transfer value despite his having no recollection of having signed the cheque, He had not, prior to the Oral Hearing, been aware of the legal advice which Mr Danks had sought. Had he know of that letter he would not have insisted on any other legal advice being taken.  Mr Brooke said he was now of the view that there was no evidence that Mr Danks had misled him and that he would wish to retract such an allegation.

110. Under questioning from the solicitor representing the Applicant, Mr Brooke said it looked as if Mr Danks had acted in the best interests of the members of the Scheme.    

111. Mr Danks said that it was not until a meeting with Bacon & Woodrow in 1990 that thought was given to enhancing pension benefits, At that time there was a £700k surplus which Bacon & Woodrow considered too high. Enhancements were suggested as a way of reducing that surplus. The surplus was to be used to meet the cost of accrual for past service. Funding for future service was to be taken into account by the actuary. Taking account of the surplus at the time the enhancements seemed easily affordable. 

112. The valuation as at December 1991 had referred to possible retirement at 55, Although Mr Danks had always intended to retire at 60 the reference to early retirement gave him greater comfort that the augmentations would receive reasonable cover going forward and that the cost was not exorbitant in the Actuary’s eyes. He received no warning from the Actuary that the cost of augmentations would cause an unacceptable strain on the funding of the Scheme. The augmentation took up one fifth of the surplus at the time and future costs were within the calculated contribution rates.

113. The later MFR deficit came to light only because Mr Danks asked for a Scheme valuation earlier than the usual triennial valuation. When he discovered that his transfer value would lead to an MFR deficit he took a reduced value so that the Scheme was left fully funded on his departure. 

114. In cross-examination Mr Danks said he understood his duty as a trustee was to look after the assets and the beneficiaries and that he would accept the standard of care should be that of a reasonable businessman. 

115. Although, as a trustee, he sought advice from Eversheds, the advice that was received was addressed to the Company. Thus there was no advice directly received by the trustees. Mr Danks had no reason to believe that if any advice had been directly delivered to the trustees that it would have differed from that offered to the Company by Eversheds. 

116. He was not aware of the procedure set out in Section 47 of the Pensions Act section 47 relating to the appointment of advisers. Mr Frost was not appointed as a legal adviser. Mr Danks relied on Mr Frost’s professional advice. Eversheds had not suggested that the Scheme should go through a Section 47 procedure.  

[END]

APPENDIX Cl

APPLICANT'S RESPONSE TO THE PENSIONS
OMBUDSMAN'S PRELIMINARY CONCLUSIONS
DATED 21 JUNE 2007(" PCS")

1. 
This response is in five sections:
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Section 1 - scheme funding and Inland Revenue requirements Section 2 - cash equivalent calculation

Section 3 - alternative arguments

Section 4 - improper inclusion of special benefits in calculating cash equivalent

Section 5 - general observations

SECTION 1 - SCHEME FUNDING & INLAND REVENUE REQUIREMENTS
2.  One of the real core issues in this matter is the funding or otherwise of the benefit improvements for Mr Danks and Mr Prosser and the advice of Mr Frost generally in this regard.

3. 
This is dealt with in a letter dated 8 March 2007 to the Ombudsman's Office in the following terms:

While it is unusual to make a submission to the Pensions Ombudsman after an oral hearing, we wish to do so in the present case because of the inconsistency between the evidence given by the actuary, Mark Frost, and the advice that he gave to Mr banks throughout the 1990's in connection with funding for the provision of :

(a) undiscounted pensions payable from age 50 and

(b) accrual at a faster rate than 1/60th for each year of pensionable service ("the special benefits ").

It was not possible for us to comment upon this at the hearing without research which we have only now been able to carry out.

It has always struck CBW as odd that a potentially massive contingent liability on the scheme in the shape of the special benefits could be taken on by the scheme without any pre-fiinding provision.

It is particularly odd in the case of Mr Danks because, under the Revenue's accelerated accrual provisions, he would have had sufficient service to retire at 50 with a full 2/3 final salary undiscounted for early payment.

CBW were therefore of the opinion that Bacon & Woodrow's advice to Mr Danks some 2 months after the augmentation that the special benefits should be fiinded was extremely sensible. Mr Frost's continuing advice throughout the 1990's to Mr Danks along the same lines (later backed by Liz Fallon of Eversheds) also appears to CBW to have been sensible. That is why we maintained at the oral hearing that it

was prejudicial to the interests of the other members for Mr Danks not to have followed the pre funding advice.

However, at the hearing Mr Frost was quite strong in his opinion that the Revenue would not permit such pre funding for special benefits. Whilst Mr Frost was being cross examined, Mr Salter of Barnett Waddingham LLP advised us that this was probably correct.

It was not possible to pursue the matter further at the time without further research. It would be necessary to establish Inland Revenue practice (as set out in the Practice Notes IR 12) at the relevant times.

At the time of the so called Benefit Reduction Statement and the Transfer Out in 2000 the relevant version of IR12 was the 1997 version. An extract from PN13.1 is reproduced below:

"Practice Notes IR12 (1997): Part 13 Funding and Surpluses

13.1 ... exempt approved schemes... The basic requirements of funding are that money should not be held except to provide benefits which the scheme has a commitment to pay and that the amount of money held should not be more than sufficient to pay those benefits when they would normally become payable i.e. in relation to retirement benefits, at the normal retirement date. It is not, therefore, permissible for an employer to fund in advance for the extra actuarial costs of a benefit which comes into payment before the normal retirement date. Any enhancement of early retirement benefits must be provided by way of augmentation at the time of such retirement... except incapacity. "

Thus the Revenue would not permit an employer and trustees to fund for early retirement undiscounted pensions or early retirement accelerated accrual pensions in advance. The corollary was that they could not award such benefits in advance. As the Practice Note says

"Any enhancement of early retirement benefits must be provided by way of augmentation at the time of such retirement".

Clearly, providing actuarially neutral discounted early retirement benefits is not a problem if restricted to 60ths accrual. But if an unreduced pension is to be provided (in particular on accelerated accrual basis) before normal retirement age (as in the case of Mr Danks) IR12 makes plain that the Revenue would not permit this to be in advance by augmentation letters or rule amendments.

The prohibition on pre funding special benefits goes hand in hand with a prohibition on awarding such benefits in advance. This makes perfect sense: in any prudently administered scheme any benefit award should be matched by an appropriate employer contribution programme (or a corresponding funding provision out of surplus). The two go together. Moreover, the Inland Revenue clearly did not wish employers to be able create tax shelters for funds which might never be used since early retirements before NRD can only be regarded as contingent

The 1991 version of the Practice Notes contain a similar provision and particularly emphasised accelerated accrual.

The 1978 Practice Notes (in force at the time of the 1990 augmentation) are less prescriptive. However, Pinsent Masons, on behalf of Mr Danks, contend that the 1992 augmentation superseded the 1990 augmentation and of course CBW contend that the 1990 augmentation is invalid because it was the Trustees who were the authors and not the Company as required by the augmentation power in the Definitive Deed. In any event the matter was addressed again in 1992 by which time the 1991 version of IR 12 had come into effect.

Furthermore, the transfer itself relied on the Benefit Reduction Statement of 2000 (by which time the 1997 version of IR 12 was in force) which is the critical document. That document conferred or confirmed benefits with an element of special benefits which caused the transfer value to be substantially inflated. Whilst it appears that there was no accelerated accrual special benefits allowed for in the Benefit Reduction Statement undiscounted pension payable from 50 was permitted.

So, while Mr Frost was correct in his evidence to the Ombudsman (notwithstanding that it contradicted his advice to Mr Danks during the 1990's and Eversheds' advice) it was incomplete. For it did not mention the fact that both the 1990 and 1992 augmentation letters infringed Inland Revenue requirements as set out in IR 12 which prohibited the award of special benefits in advance.

As is clear from recital (A) to and Clause 3 of the Interim Deed establishing the scheme, it was always intended to be an exempt approved scheme, the provisions of which would "conform with the requirements of the Inland Revenue relating to exempt approved schemes". In view of the provisions of IR12 to which we have referred, it is clear that the augmentation letters would not have satisfied those requirements. Although the amendment power in the 1992 Trust Deed and Rules is not expressly subject to a restriction referring to Inland Revenue approval, we suggest that such a restriction must clearly be implied on the basis that it is so obvious as to go without saying or that it is necessary to give effect to the underlying intention that the scheme should be exempt approved and comply with the Revenue's requirements. It follows that the augmentation letters were invalid.

In fact there is a further complication with the Benefit Reduction Statement, which suggests that it should fail in its entirety. The Benefit Reduction Statement is expressed as a scheme rule amendment. It was apparently drafted by Mr Frost despite his acknowledgement in cross examination that it was a legal document and he was not the scheme's legal adviser appointed under Section 47 Pensions Act 1995. As a scheme rule amendment, it would have had to be approved by the Revenue to maintain tax approval of the Scheme. We have seen no evidence that any such Revenue approval was obtained but are checking further with the Revenue.

In this connection, we would refer the Ombudsman to Section 591B (2) ICTA 1988 (now repealed but in force at all times relevant to this matter) the effect of which is that, if an amendment is made without first obtaining prior Inland Revenue consent, the entire scheme automatically loses tax approval. In practice, this was rarely a problem because if approval was obtained after an amendment was made it was usually granted with retrospective effect to the date of the amendment

concerned so that there was no break in the tax approval of the scheme. This was a common practice.

However, in this case the Benefit Reduction Statement was not capable of Revenue approval because of the breach of IR 12 Practice Note 13.1 and, as we have indicated, appears never to have been sent to the Revenue. If the Benefit Reduction Statement was effective there would have a loss of approval with very serious Revenue consequences. Indeed, the present status of the scheme as a registered pension scheme under the Finance Act 2004 may be in question because that depends on its prior status as an approved scheme under Section 591 ICTA1988.

Be that as it may, no reasonable trustee properly directly could have decided to make an amendment which would have jeopardized approval of the scheme and this is in our submission an alternative reason why the Benefit Reduction Statement was invalid.

4.  Thus if - as the Trustees on Mr Frost's advice appear to have thought - the 1990 augmentation letter as amended by the 2000 Rule Amendment provided a right to have the value of an unreduced pension payable from 50 included in the calculation of the transfer payment, there was a breach of Inland Revenue requirements and the excessive transfer payment would be unauthorised.

5.  However, for the reasons given in CBW's submission of 15 January 2007, that is not the correct interpretation of the 2000 Rule Amendment. Properly construed it did not confer any such right and it prohibited Mr Frost from including in the calculation of the transfer payment any allowance in respect of the value of an unreduced pension payable from 50. HMRC have now confirmed that this is also their interpretation of the 2000 Rule Amendment: see the exchange of emails set out in the Appendix. The present Scheme Actuary, Mr Chris Atkin, shares that opinion: see Section 3 below.

6.  In their email of 20 July 2007 HMRC also refer to Reg 6(3) of the Personal Pension Schemes (Transfer Payment) Regulations. This is a reference to what at the time was referred to colloquially as the "headroom test " specifically for controlling directors (like Mr Danks). That Regulation was specifically designed to stop controlling directors siphoning off large transfer payments from occupational schemes and transferring them to SIPPS where of course (unlike an occupational scheme) there was no restriction on the maximum pension payable. That is yet another reason why the transfer payment was excessive. Mr Frost should have signed off an actuarial certificate confirming compliance with the "headroom test". There is no trace of such a certificate in the records handed over to CBW and Atkin & Co . Mr Frost should be asked to produce this certificate or explain why one does not exist .The present Scheme Actuary, Chris Atkin intends to request Mr Frost to produce the certificate but it may carry more weight and save time if the Ombudsman were to request delivery up of same . Obviously if no certificate exists or a certificate exists with a mistake in it ( for the reasons set out above ) then on this ground alone the transfer out was defective and any excess accidentally paid out should be refunded to the Scheme . HMRC will expect

the " headroom test " certificate to be produced to them as part of the investigation they intend to mount and which is referred to in paragraph 8 below.

7.  Furthermore, HMRC have confirmed that as the Rule Amendment was not sent to them for approval that the Scheme technically lost its tax approval by reason of Section 591 (B) (2) ICTA 1988. They will not take this point to the disadvantage of innocent Scheme members, but the Applicant respectfully submits that a transfer payment cannot be allowed to stand to the extent it relies upon a Rule Amendment which was required to be approved by HMRC but was not and which, indeed, cannot now be approved because the legislation providing the powers to do so have been repealed.

8.  In contrast, the powers to make a tax charge on the Scheme apparently remain in force. HMRC have already asked the Applicant to make a submission regarding the alleged unauthorised transfer payment made in respect of Mr Danks, because there may be a tax charge levied on Mr Danks under Section 583 Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 (previously S601 ICTA 88). The Applicant's response to this request has been to say that if an unauthorised payment was made, this was a mistake that the Applicant is trying to correct by obtaining a refund from Mr Danks of the amount by which the transfer payment in respect of him was excessive. The Ombudsman should therefore appreciate that since the Applicant believes that either an overpayment by mistake occurred or an unauthorised transfer was made in respect of Mr Danks that if the Ombudsman's final determination in this case does not require Mr Danks to repay to the Scheme the alleged excessive payment that ultimately there may be a tax charge of probably 40% of the excessive transfer (plus interest and penalties) made against Mr Danks.

9.  Based upon Mr Atkin's approximate estimate of the extent to which the transfer was excessive the tax payable would probably be circa £100,000 (before interest and penalties). This is based on normal retirement date of 60. However, if the age of 65 is used (as set out in the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment of 2000) the tax charge will be higher because the transfer will have been excessive to a greater degree. Further, that would probably not be the end of the matter so far as the Applicant is concerned and litigation through the courts might well ensue.

10.  There is no mention in the PCS of the vitally important submissions in the letter of 7 March 2007. Whilst it is appreciated that these arguments were raised at a very late stage, CBW submits that it would be wrong in law to exclude them from consideration.

11. 
To reiterate:‑

(1) If the special benefits gave the right to an unreduced pension from age 50 there was a breach of IR 12 that would cause the loss of Inland Revenue approval.

(2) An amendment purporting to confer such a right would have been ultra vires or void as an improper exercise of the amendment power.

(3) Therefore the Trustees had no power to make a transfer payment calculated on the basis of such a right.

(4) To the extent that the transfer payment was increased for this reason it was ultra vires and made under a mistake of law.

12.  The excess element of the transfer payment must be refunded. However this is not a claim for breach of trust (and therefore possible exoneration). It is simply a case of restitution, and the overpayment must be repaid.

SECTION 2: CASH EQUIVALENT CALCULATION
13.  Mr Atkin has discovered that the cash equivalent legislation permits only the value of post 1988 accruals to be transferred out if the member remains in employment when his pensionable service ceases. This is very much in point because, as the Ombudsman will recall, Mr Danks did not leave employment when his pensionable service ended and he was insistent at the oral hearing that he intended to carry on working until 60. Later in this response it will be demonstrated by evidence received from the Liquidators of the Company, Moore Stephens, that in August 2000, whatever Mr Danks' aspirations were of working for the Company to age 60 that the prospects of him being able to do so appeared to be rather bleak.

14. Mr Atkin now says - to quote him verbatim:

"GN11 requires that a cash equivalent must be equal to the minimum of the MFR value of benefits. The MFR value has to be determined based on the value of benefits at the earliest age at which a member can draw benefits without consent and without reduction. Hence, in this case, any cash equivalent should value the pension payable from age 50 only if there was an unconditional right to retire at 50 ...

Also, in any event, it appears that IR12 does not permit the granting of augmented early retirement benefits in advance. In the present case, therefore, it would seem that the transfer value may well have been excessive because it did include the value of an unreduced pension payable immediately.

Further, the right to a cash equivalent only related to service after 5 April 1988 (as Danks had not left employment), as per SI 1996/1847, The Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 1996, paragraph 3, and before 6 April 1997 (since post-97 rights were not transferred). These are the only rights that should have been subject to a minimum of the MFR value.

Had Danks' pre 1988 benefit been retained in the scheme, as permitted by the cash equivalent legislation, then the MFR position of the scheme (if Danks was regarded as being entitled to have his benefits payable unreduced from 50) would have been poor with severe under funding and, as a result, the Trustees

could, and should, have reduced the cash equivalent quite significantly to reflect the true MFR position of the Scheme. The cash equivalent should have been a lot less than was actually paid.

There is no reason why Danks should not have taken a transfer value in respect of all his non-protected rights.(i.e to include the value of pre 1988 accruals) but this would have required trustee consent under Rule 36 rather than being a cash equivalent transfer

The issue here is the quantum of transfer that was paid. The argument has been put forward that the transfer value had to be high because of the MFR minimum that applied to the cash equivalent. The above shows that this argument is largely unfounded. When paying a cash equivalent the trustees had no obligation to pay out any more than the severely reduced MFR value of benefit relating to 88-97 service.

The MFR underpin to the cash equivalent does not apply to benefits in respect of service before 1988.Hence, at best,, the part of the transfer payment which related to pre 1988 accruals should have been valued based on the rationale behind the funding of the scheme, even accrual of a 2/3rds pension payable from age 60 unless there was a considerable immediate contribution from the company (which was unlikely since I understand that the company were already in default).

There is no requirement in the Scheme Rules to include in the ultimate transfer value an amount in respect of pre 1988 accruals on the assumption that a pension payable from age 50 was due to be paid immediately (even if there was a right to it which in view of what I have said in the first paragraph of this letter is questionable anyway ).

In view of what had gone on before, it seems very strange for the trustees to have made this assumption, without the prospect of any extra funding from the company.

The argument has also been put forward that the cost to the scheme if Danks had exercised his alleged right to immediate retirement would have been very high, £1.3m I believe. This was the other justification for paying such a large transfer value. I would make two points: firstly, Danks did not retire so the cost to the scheme is hypothetical and secondly, the full benefit could only have been paid if there was substantial funding from the company. Either way, this cost seems largely irrelevant."

15. Thus the transfer value was also excessive on this ground and the excess must be refunded to the Scheme. Again it is a case of restitution rather than compensation for breach of trust.

SECTION 2: ALTERNATIVE ARGUMENTS
16.  If the Ombudsman does not see it this way, then CBW invites the Ombudsman to consider whether Mr Darks showed a "deliberate and culpable disregard " for the Members of the Scheme in failing to fund for the special benefits as recommended by Mr Frost and for including in the transfer value special benefits which were paid for by absorbing all the surplus in the Scheme for the sole benefit of Mr Darks at a time when his own Company was in default in paying Employer's contributions to the Scheme and OPRA investigated.

17. Bacon and Woodrow's letter dated 31 May 1990 addressed to Mr Darks only refers to absorbing surplus to fund NRD reduction to 60 (copy attached) and increases to pensions in payment. References to "early retirement" are only references to the reduction in NRD from 65 to 60 and there is no reference to the payment of undiscounted pension payable from age 50 or accelerated accrual. The letter says that the early retirement pension alone would not cost very much because it would be offset lower total accrual ("which remains on the basic 60ths scale "). However, the augmentation letters attached to the letter did not restrict accrual to 60 the or retirement to age 60. They permitted accelerated accrual at Revenue maximum levels and it was clear that Mr Darks would have sufficient pensionable service by age 50 to receive a full two thirds Revenue maximum final salary pension undiscounted for early payment.

18.  This early retirement benefit (properly so called) would be very expensive and if not to be funded by future contributions would have absorbed considerably more of the surplus than is referred to in the letter of 31 May 1990. It is evident from future actuarial evidence that the special benefits payable at maximum Revenue accelerated accrual levels from age 50 were not funded by allocation of surplus in 1990 or 1992 or by future increased employer contributions since it was not treated by the Scheme Actuary as a liability of the Scheme despite several warnings from the Actuary to Mr Darks that the Company's contributions should be increased to fund for the potential future liability.

19. Mr Frost appears to have been confused in his own mind about how to deal with the irreconcilable problem of awarding as of right the special benefits (which he, in error, thought to have been the case) but without funding for them. Throughout the 1990s it is clear that Mr Frost was concerned about the liability for the special benefits because he kept urging Mr Darks to fund for them. Mr Frost appears to have overlooked the prohibition on awarding and funding for such benefits contained in Part 13 of the Revenue's Practice Notes IR 12 in making these recommendations. In any event it seems Mr Danks ignored this advice about pre funding so by default the Scheme's funding regime did not breach IR 12 but the 1990 and 1992 augmentations did and so did the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment of 2000 if applied based upon Mr Frost's erroneous interpretation of them.

a

20. The corollary of this is that in 2000 when the transfer value was calculated there were no funds built up in the Scheme (either by previous surplus allocation or by increased employer contributions) to pay for any special benefits whether at the full level alleged to have been awarded in 1990/1992 or at the reduced level alleged to have been awarded and as set out in the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment drafted by Mr Frost in 2000. Note that the 1990 and 1992 letters granted "accelerated accrual " which is a reference, in the case of Mr Danks, to accrual at 1/30th of final remuneration for each year of service which would enable Mr Darks under IR12 Practice Notes to retrospectively pension all his employment with the company since 1 April 1976 to achieve a full 2/3rds pension by 1 April 1996. Whilst this benefit was allegedly awarded in 1990 and 1992 it was unfunded but it is accepted by CBW that it was in any event relinquished by virtue of the 2000 Rule Amendment (see paragraph 36 of the Material Facts.).

21. Mr Darks and his advisers have sought to characterise this relinquishment as an altruistic act by Mr Darks for the benefit of the other members of the Scheme since it reduced the Scheme's liabilities. It was nothing of the sort because, as Mr Frost confirmed in paragraph 34 of the Material Facts, the "special terms" payable from 50 (which included accelerated accrual) had not been funded. Mr Danks and Mr Brooke, as trustees acting in the best interests of members ,could never have paid out the full value of the augmented benefits awarded in 1990and 1992 even if Mr Danks had decided to retire at 50 and receive a pension from the Scheme. Mr Darks was giving up nothing that had been paid for and it appears that , in 2000 , the whole of the fragile surplus over MFR was mopped up for his sole personal benefit!

22. The other point to note is that MFR was simply that; a "minimum ". The idea that any excess funding over MFR should be automatically abated is wrong. The law dealing with excessive surpluses which required abatement of any surplus when the value of assets exceeded 105 % of the value of liabilities was contained in Schedule 22 ICTA 1988 (now repealed). The actuarial assumptions to be adopted for the calculation of such surpluses were conservative and set down by the Government Actuary's Department. There is nothing in the actuarial records of this Scheme which indicates that the Scheme ever enjoyed a statutory excessive surplus and that opinion is shared by HMRC

23. Accordingly Mr Darks benefits in 2000 should have been valued as a maximum on the basis of 1/60 th accrual to age 60 and discounted for accelerated receipt because anything over that was not paid for.

24. Mr Darks admitted at the oral hearing that at the time of the transfer he did not appreciate the difference between ongoing solvency and wind up solvency. Given that Mr Darks had the benefit of Mr Frost's detailed advice as a trustee and the advice of Mr Frost's partner at Garvin & Co , Robert Garvin, as his personal adviser, it is surprising that he was so ignorant and not apparently warned by Mr Frost or Mr Garvin. Be that as it may, any

reasonable trustee properly advised would have been aware that as the Company was not paying its own contributions to the Scheme the strength of the employer covenant should have been investigated and the risk of its imminent insolvency. Note that George Green were told over the telephone on 3 August 2007 by Mr Nigel Price of Moore Stephens ( the Liquidators of the Company) that his understanding was that his firm was originally appointed to effect a Members' Voluntary Winding Up because of losses in the years 1997, 1998 and 2000.The loss in 2000 was nearly £1.3 million. We have a short written report with supporting accounts and reports prepared by Moore Stephens which was delivered to George Green by email at 17.08 on 3 August 2007 . This material has not been studied fully because of time constraints but if the issue is regarded as sufficiently important to the Ombudsman's investigation this evidence can be sent to him upon request. Suffice to say at this stage that in August 2000 whatever Mr Danks' aspirations with regard to working until age 60 it appears that he and the other owners of the business were probably well aware of the financial difficulties facing the Company and that the prospects for Mr Danks' continued employment by the Company may well have been quite poor although the Applicant would need to study Moore Stephen's report and documents further before offering a definitive opinion . These are matters of fact which the Ombudsman may wish to investigate.

25.  The Applicant's recollection of Mr Brooke's evidence under cross-examination at the oral hearing is that he feared that the Company would go bust and he would lose his job. The risk of winding up of the Scheme because of the failure of the Company would seem to have been high if Ionic's own Company Secretary was so concerned in this way . The Scheme's liabilities would be massively increased because of the need to buy annuities. No reasonable trustee would in such circumstances have paid out the entire notional surplus over MFR solely for Mr Danks' benefits when MFR solvency would itself be hopelessly inadequate in the case of a wind up.

26.  Mr Brooke said he never received any actuarial advice from Mr Frost. The interests of the Scheme members as a whole were apparently not considered at all or not properly considered when the transfer out was made.

27.  As part of Mr Danks' ultimate transfer value did include the value of special benefits Mr Atkin estimates that the transfer value on this ground alone was excessive. See the figures produced by Mr Atkin contained in an email from Chris Atkin to Trevor Clarke dated 31 July 2007 and reproduced at the end of the Appendix to this Response .

28.  Moreover, since no pre-1988 accruals should have been included in the calculation, the transfer amount must be reduced further . See the figures referred to in paragraph 27 above .

29.  At the time of the transfer (in 2000) based upon 1/60ths accrual at 60 for Mr Danks (all that was ever funded for and all that IR 12 permitted to be awarded in advance) there was a notional "surplus" in the Scheme over and

above providing MFR for everyone (including Mr Danks based upon 1/60 th accrual ). That surplus had been generated by ordinary funding for the general membership together with investment accretions.

30.  Thus, the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment actually had the effect of distributing the whole of this surplus above MFR for the benefit of Mr Danks. This at a time when his own Company had defaulted in payment of Employer contributions to the Scheme and OPRA investigated.

31.  In effect it appears that the Scheme suffered a "double hit". The entire surplus over true MFR liabilities which had been funded for, appears to have been siphoned off to benefit Mr Danks whilst at the same time its seems his Company was trying to stay afloat by taking such measures as ignoring the Company's liability to pay pension contributions. If this is right, it was clearly not in the best interests of members since Mr Danks would have been putting his own interests above those of the other members when he had a conflict of interest. The Ombudsman should consider whether he was in breach of trust.
32.  It is submitted that Mr Danks was hopelessly conflicted throughout and in breach of trust. In this connection and in response to paragraph 19 of the PCS, we would suggest that the protection to which he refers in Rule 18 is designed to protect against the absolute rule that a trustee cannot profit from his trust. Thus, if a trustee is also a member, Rule 18 enables him to receive his scale benefits and vote on a resolution to improve his own benefits and it would not be automatically stuck down by the basic rule of trust law which would otherwise be the case.

33.  However, that does not give the trustee the power to ignore his general duty to act in the best interests of the whole membership and observe the other trust law rules. The vast majority of trustee members do not own majority shareholdings in the principal employer of their schemes. However , where this happens the rules of conflict of interest still apply potentially even when a rule like Rule 18 (A) is contained in the scheme documentation.

34.  In this case the potential conflict of interest became an actual conflict and by proceeding as he did CBW believe Mr Darks was in breach of trust. Rule 18 now has its statutory equivalent in Section 39 Pensions Act 1995 which obviously was in force at the time of the transfer in 2000. However , even the statutory version does not provide absolute freedom to self profit and a breach of trust at common law is still an "open door " (See below for an extract from the NAPF Pensions Legislation Service, Special Bulletin on the Pensions Act 1995 by Belinda Berney published by Butterworths. Note particularly that Ms Benney refers to member trustee benefiting "incidentally and "in the same way as other members " which is in stark contrast to the self interested focus of the Trustees in the case of the augmentations for Messrs Darks and Prosser.)

" PERSONAL BENEFIT OF TRUSTEES

3.19 Many pension schemes contain a rule allowing trustees who are also members of their pension scheme to benefit from the trust by drawing their own basic scale

entitlements as well as including themselves in any improvements granted at their discretion. This has been seen as a hang-over from the law of private family trusts, where the duty of a trustee not to profit from his own position tended to cause more problems and temptations. Many modern pension scheme documents do not include such a power on the basis that it would be implied as members do not choose to become trustees. It would certainly be a nonsense if a trustee who was also a member could not draw his own basic scale entitlement because of such a rule.

3.20 The cases of British Coal and Drexel Burnham Lambert cast doubt on the implied protections for trustees in situations where their interests and duty conflict and on the efficacy of any protective powers granted by the trust instrument. Pressure was brought to bear on the Government to create a statutory exemption to put the position beyond doubt before the new compulsory member trustee provisions came into force. Section 39 was eventually inserted at a late stage in the passage of the Pensions Bill. The difficulty in drafting the section lay between giving a blanket mandate to trustees to benefit themselves without breach of trust in all circumstances, and protecting trustees in connection with a reasonable exercise of their duties which incidentally benefited themselves. The wording of s 39 is intended to leave open the possibilities of a breach of trust claim under the common law rules as set out in Drexel in cases of flagrant abuse, but otherwise to allow trustees to run their scheme normally even if they receive a personal benefit in the same way as other members through the exercise of their discretionary powers. The message is that each case must be looked at on its own merits."

35.  Despite Rule 18 of the Scheme and Section 39 Pensions Act 1995 this principle still applies where there is a clear cut conflict of interest, a fortiori, when the only beneficiaries of a surplus distribution are shareholders of the sponsoring employer of the Scheme which would otherwise have to stump-up the cash to fund the benefits this is probably just the sort of scenario contemplated by Ms Berney as creating an "open door " for the common law to control.

SECTION 4 - INCLUSION OF SPECIAL BENEFITS IN CALCULATION OF CASH EQUIVALENT
36.  The augmentation letters of 1990 and 1992 refer to the early retirement benefits only being triggered when Mr Danks' active employment terminates and he retires after age 50. In the case of his withdrawal from pensionable service, exercising his statutory right to do so, he becomes a deferred pensioner and the letters simply grant a deferred pension on the N/NS formula based on 60 NRD. In other words, had Mr Danks left his benefits in the Scheme and not transferred them out he would not have been entitled under the 2000 Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment to an undiscounted pension under the Scheme because he lost his alleged right to an undiscounted pension from age 50 onwards upon his termination of pensionable service. The only way to achieve an early retirement from the Scheme with an unreduced pension would have been by augmentation at the time of the actual early retirement.

37.  If an employee wants to retire early on or after age 50 that right can be provided, even on an undiscounted basis for a selected employee, but the employer wants to be sure that the employee works for the employer until he actually retires. Part 13 of IR 12 fits nicely with this concept since it will not permit the Employer to augment in this way until the actual retirement takes place. What the employer does not want to do, even if the Revenue had permitted it, is for the employee to have a right to go off and work for someone else, let us say for example at age 40, but retain a deferred pension which allows him to retire on an undiscounted pension at age 50 despite the fact that the employer awarding that benefit had lost the benefit of that employee's services for 10 years.

38.  That is why the valuable early retirement benefit is conditional upon the retirement and the termination of employment (which also terminates pensionable service) being simultaneous and with the employer's consent. Putting aside Part 13 of IR12 for the moment (for the purposes of this Section 4) it follows that under the augmentation letters of 1990 and 1992 this pre-condition can never be met by a Scheme member who voluntarily withdraws from pensionable service but remains in employment. He is treated the same as someone whose employment has terminated and has moved to another job.

39. Mr Danks became a deferred pensioner on 31 August 2000 because he withdrew from pensionable service. CBW contend that as Mr Danks voluntarily left pensionable service on 31 August 2000 he lost any alleged right to be considered for early retirement undiscounted under the 2000 Rule Amendment and therefore the transfer value should not have contained any element of value attributable to an early retirement pension payable without actuarial discount. The transfer value should have been much lower and this depends on whether, when he transferred out, Mr Danks' NRD was 65 or 60 and this is an issue for discussion.

40. The Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment said Mr Danks' NRD was age 65.

41.  The only thing that could possibly save Mr Danks from the above analysis is the Preservation Laws which require Short Service Benefits to be calculated on the same basis as Long Service Benefits. It will be explained below why the Preservation Laws have no application to Mr Danks' deferred pension in terms of preserving the value of an undiscounted pension payable from age 50. Long Service Benefit is that payable at Normal Retirement Age.

42.  Section 180 (1)(b) PSA 1993 defines Normal Retirement Age as being the earliest age from which the member would be entitled to receive benefits from the Scheme "on his retirement from such employment" and Section 180(2) says that for the purposes of Sub- Section 180 (1) :

any scheme making special provision as to early retirement on grounds of ill health or otherwise is to be disregarded ".

Section 71 (3) PSA 1993 stated at the relevant time that:

" short service benefit (SSB) must be payable as from normal retirement age or, if in tlw member's case that age is earlier than 60 then from age 60 "

43. So CBW say that the Preservation Laws do not apply to Mr Danks (as to any element for unreduced payment alleged to be payable from 50) and that Mr Frost's calculation of the transfer value was wrong and the excess paid must be refunded since he should have only calculated the value of the Statutory Short Service Benefit. The calculation should have been based on age 60 as the earliest age from which Mr Danks would have been entitled to receive his pension and probably age 65 as per the Benefit Reduction Rule amendment of 2000.

44. It has been explained why the Cash Equivalent should not include any allowance for special benefits. Mr Danks' lawyers have stated that the transfer was effected pursuant to Rule 36 of the Scheme. However:‑

(1) That Rule would have required Mr Danks to send a letter to Mr Brooke requesting a transfer payment which Mr Brooke says he never received.

(2) Further the requirement for the trustees to determine the proportion of the fund to be transferred out required special actuarial advice which was not requested from the actuary and therefore Mr Brooke and Mr Danks together as a trustee board did not consider the actuarial position at all.
(3) Accordingly to the extent that the transfer was purportedly made Rule 36 it was invalid because it did not comply with the Rule 36 procedures.

45. Mr Frost said at the oral hearing that it did not matter whether the transfer was made under the cash equivalent legislation or Rule 36 - his transfer value figure would have been the same. Even if there had been a right to an undiscounted pension from 50 (which there was not) the full value of it could only be transferred out under Rule 36 because pre-1988 accruals were not required to be included in the calculation of a statutory cash equivalent. Therefore Mr Frost was wrong in his statement at the oral hearing.
46. Furthermore, since the documentation shows he believed he was calculating a cash equivalent and the transfer (so far as he is concerned) took effect under the cash equivalent legislation his calculation was wrong. The sum transferred was excessive.

SECTION 5 - GENERAL OBSERVATIONS ON THE PCS

47. This section will adopt the numbering of the PCS.

8) It is assumed that the last word should read " deficit " and not "surplus". See above for what CBW see as the proper analysis of this situation. Mr Danks gave up nothing that had been paid for

9) The suggestion that selective information was fed to Mr Brooke to mislead him is absolute nonsense. Mr Clarke is an ad hoc Pensions Consultant Solicitor to George Green. He was called in to review the augmentations granted to Messrs Danks and Prosser in 1990 and 1992 and the transfer out in respect of Mr Danks. He prepared a report for CBW dated 18 October 2002. At this time CBW and therefore George Green were not in possession of vital documents :

a) The Definitive Deed dated 11 December 1992. Whilst George Green had a set of Rules dated 11 December 1992 they were not in possession of a Definitive Deed. Further the Rules appeared to have been adopted under hand without a Definitive Deed having been executed. The copy Rules in George Green's possession were signed by Messrs Danks and Prosser with an attestation clause as follow on the first page :

"Agreed and Accepted By Trustees of the Pension Fund... Date 11/12 /92.

Thus it appeared to George Green at the time that the Rules were and could only be effective from 11 December 1992. They were not expressed to take effect retrospectively.

c) The Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment dated 5 September 2000.

Despite the importance of the documents referred to above neither Mr Darks nor Mr Brook delivered them up to CBW when CBW were appointed and neither did the Scheme's previous professional advisers.

As a result of this at the time of the two meetings Mr Clarke had with Mr Brooke (December 2002 and January 2003 ) a Definitive Deed apparently did not exist and Mr Clarke had no knowledge of the existence of the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment. Mr Brooke should have been aware of the existence of these documents but did not mention them.

Note also that Mr Darks was invited to attend the first meeting with Mr Brooke but refused to do so. Had he attended he would have been able to confirm the existence of the Definitive Deed and the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment and also remind Mr Brooke of the extent of his involvement in the transfer out process. Mr Darks failure to attend and explain himself was a major contributory factor in the events which were to unfold and of which he has complained.

In February 2003 shortly after the meetings with Mr Brooke ,Mr Clarke handed day to day control of the case to a litigation partner at George Green. Later the Definitive Deed was sent to George Green by Garvins and the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment was sent to George Green by Pinsent Mason. George Green's litigation partner sent copies to Mr Brooke. Mr Brooke did not withdraw any of the comments he made to Mr Clarke in the two meetings he had with Mr Clarke and Mr Dailey

of CBW. Mr Clarke withdrew completely from involvement with the case in early October 2003 and was not involved again until the end of 2006 when he was called in to assist with the oral hearing .

In connection with Evershed's file note dated 30 August 2000 which was shown to Mr Brooke it has been suggested on behalf of Mr Danks that there was an obvious typographical error and Eversheds note

should have read " He was willing to take a reduced transfer value " rather than "was not" which was actually typed.

Neither George Green nor CBW read the note as requiring correction. Based upon the evidence available at the time of the second meeting with Mr Brooke their view was that Mr Danks should have been reducing his benefits to the scale benefits applicable to all other members or at the very least to 60 the accrual payable from 60.The note was read, rightly or wrongly, as a refusal to do this.

In any event the interpretation which Mr Clarke and Mr Dailey put on the file note was not communicated to Mr Brooke and is really irrelevant because Mr Brooke read the file note for himself without any comment or input from Mr Clarke or Mr Dalley and he reached his own conclusions about its meaning.

16) The excessive special benefits allegedly awarded in 1990 ,1992 and 2000 were in breach of IR 12 Part 13 and the value thereof should not have been included in the transfer value. The Scheme's Fund did not benefit from the execution of Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment because the full value of the 1990/1992 benefits alleged to have been awarded had never been paid for and could never have been paid to Mr Darks without a substantial cash injection from the Company. CBW believe that if Mr Danks had taken the full value of the 1990/92 benefits from the Scheme thereby plunging it into deficit that this would have been a breach of trust because Mr Darks knew the full benefits had not been funded for. Thus in substance he gave up nothing. He could not have received any special benefits in 2000 even if the Employer had consented to him retiring early from the Scheme at that time. The Company had no money to top up the solvency because it could not even afford to pay the standard employer contributions . Mr Nigel Price of the Company's Liquidators, Moore Stephens, told George Green on 3 August 2007 that in 2000 the Company made a loss of nearly £1.3 million which greatly reduced the net asset value of the Company to a mere £690,000. Since the full value of the benefits Mr Darks believes he was entitled to was said to be circa £1.3 million and Mr Atkin believes the value of the benefits to which he was entitled was only ( at best ) circa £460,000 there was a shortfall of some £ 840,000 which was unfunded for but which Mr Darks asserts was a liability of the Scheme. In other words in 2000 the Company was actually worth less than the sum it would have been required to pay into the Scheme to grant to Mr Darks the benefits to which he ,

wrongly , assumed he was entitled. Mr Danks therefore cannot be said to have effectively made a gift to the Scheme of extra assets by entering into the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment ( an impression both Mr Frost and Mr Newman attempted to convey at the oral hearing) because the money simply was not there. Mr Danks cannot be said to have given up something which in 2000 he could never have acquired. In Mr Price's own words extracted from an email to George Green from Moore Stephens dated 3 August 2007 " From the information available I do not see that the company would have had any prospects of paying a pension top up of £900,000 in August 2000 since it was by then heavily loss making and cash poor "

19) This point has been dealt with above.

21 & 22) Mr Atkins says in response to quote him verbatim:

"In paragraphs 21,22, 34 and 35, the Pensions Ombudsman contends that Mr banks was only granted additional benefits up to a level that could be justified without seeking further funding from the company. The need for further funding appears to have been assessed on the MFR basis, ie the statutory minimum basis, without reference to the long term funding assumptions that had been used previously (which it appears had not made any allowance for favourable early retirement terms) and without reference to the precarious financial position of the company.

The argument behind this seems to be that had Mr Danks not transferred then, because the MFR value of his apparent enhanced early retirement benefits was so high, he was actually doing the scheme a favour by transferring. This argument is very convenient but overlooks the fact that the previous MFR valuations had not, it seems, taken into account the early retirement terms and that funding had not previously been put in place for those benefits. I have to ask why the argument suddenly came out of the blue and why the previous actuarial advice was not challenged.

It could be construed that Mr Danks found himself in a difficult position and hence took action to try to limit the damage by agreeing to a reduction in his apparent benefits.

I note, however, that, despite strong recommendations from the actuary over the years that funding should be put in place if the favourable early retirement benefits were to be drawn, the trustees and the company (essentially Mr Danks) had not funded the scheme on this basis. It seems that it was always assumed that Mr banks would retire at age 60. Mr banks, acting for both the company and the trustees, was happy to ignore the apparent early retirement terms for funding purposes over the years but then wished to take personal advantage of those unfunded benefits, as far as could possibly be justified, when determining a transfer payment for himself

It seems that it became a case of what would be the absolute maximum that could be paid out in respect of Mr Danks rather than what, in the

circumstances, would be a fair and reasonable transfer value. The interests of other members were somewhat sidelined in the process.

The case for a transfer value in excess of an N/NS pension payable from age 60 was based Iargely on the argument that the MFR value of benefits had to take into account the favourable early retirement terms. I believe that, in the absence of this MFR underpin, any reasonable trustee would, in the circumstances, have based the transfer value on the assumption of retirement at age 60.

The MFR argument was used to push up the transfer value to the highest possible level notwithstanding that this meant paying out a transfer value based on immediate retirement at age 50 for Mr Danks, even though he was not retiring, whilst leaving the funding for other members at a level where, on discontinuance, their benefits would be reduced severely.

It now appears that the assumption that Mr Danks could retire immediately without consent is questionable and this throws into doubt the rationale behind the enhancement of the transfer value to allow for the MFR underpin. This would mean that Mr Danks had no right to a transfer value in excess of the MFR value of an N/NS pension from age 60." "

24-31) CBW remained unconvinced that the Definitive Deed could validate the augmentations despite Imperial v Jeeves. Walton J said in that case:

"A person who had contributed to the fund in question would be in a position to object to some provision which was never contemplated but was put or attempted to be put into the final trust deed. For example ,provision for a different charity or in particular case for the payment of pension to totally different classes of person."
Giving retrospective effect to the Definitive Deed to validate the 190 / 92 augmentations had the effect of creating an executive benefit category of member in this Scheme in breach of IR12 Part 13. The benefits were in practice unfunded to the extent they conferred special benefits and it has been seen what trouble this has caused.

Nigel Inglis Jones, QC, has said of the decision in Imperial v Jeeves:

"In applying this decision to other schemes a warning note has to be sounded - namely that the provisions of the particular interim and definitive deeds have to be carefully examined to determine whether this decision can be applied to them."

This Scheme `s Interim deed contained a power to amend. As a matter of construction the draftsman intended that any extension of powers before the Definitive Deed was executed should be effected by an appropriate amendment to the Interim Deed.

34 & 35) Leaving aside for the moment that Part 13 of IR12 prohibits such advanced funding and even awarding such benefits as were granted in 1990,1992 and 2000 it remains a fact that no special benefits were funded for and to the extent they were provided in the 2000 Benefit

Reduction Rule Amendment and comprised in the transfer out this involved using all the notional surplus in the Scheme above MFR (calculated based on scale benefits for Mr Danks payable from 60 ) solely for Mr Danks.

42) The complaint against Mr Prosser was left in place because he was a party to making the award to Mr Danks in 1990 & 1992.

43) Again we quote from Belinda Benny :

Section 47 (3) states that if the auditor ,actuary, fund manager or legal adviser is appointed by someone other than the trustees or managers (usually by the sponsoring employer or possibly by the members or a trade union which has sought independent advice) the trustees will be liable to removal under S 3 if they place reliance on the skill or judgement of that person. Both trustees and managers will also be liable to civil penalty under Section 10."

Mr Danks relied upon the advice of Eversheds ,who were appointed by the Principal Employer ,so Section 47 was breached.

If so far as the Ombudsman is concerned Mr Frost is not to be regarded as having given legal advice to the Scheme by drafting the Benefit Reduction Rule Amendment such that he should have been appointed a legal adviser under Section 47 so be it. However by so drafting the Rule Amendment he was clearly involved in the Administration of the Scheme such that the Ombudsman has jurisdiction to investigate his conduct. We understand that some Scheme Members have complained to the Ombudsman about the conduct of the Scheme Administrators. That complaint apparently remains dormant pending the outcome of this complaint. It remains to be seen whether the Members' complaint will have to be revived and whether ,if it is ,the Ombudsman decides that he has jurisdiction to review what he might well regard as administrative work done for the Scheme by Mr Frost .

Further whilst on the subject of Section 47 Mr Frost presumably signed off a Section 47 appointment as Scheme Actuary when he was acting. At the same time his Partner Robert Garvin was advising Mr Danks personally. Mr Frost had a conflict of interest. He should have reported this to the only independent trustee Mr Brooke and should have withdrawn. He did not and CBW regard this as unsatisfactory.

44) Mr Brooke did not even know the amount of the transfer value and was staggered when told the amount thereof. It appears that he signed an authorisation for the investment managers to disinvest and make the transfer to Mr Danks SIPP. He did not sign a cheque.

It would appear therefore that this complaint is now simply open and shut by reference to the Revenue Practice Notes IR12 and/or the cash

equivalent legislation and/or the proper interpretation of the 1990 & 1992 augmentation letters and the 2000 Benefit Reduction Statement. The Ombudsman must seriously consider reversing his Preliminary Conclusions in the light of these new submissions.

APPENDIX
FROM TREVOR CLARKE OF GEORGE GREEN TO MARK BRYANT OF
HMRC
From: Trevor Clarke [mailto:trevorclarke©thepensionlawyer.com] Sent: 19 July 2007 14:41

To: Bryant, Mark (CAR Pensions)

Cc: 'Robert Ham'; Danny Smillie; 'Chris Atkin'; 'dalley julian'; 'Julian 2 Dalley'; 'neil williams'; Michael Conway

Subject: Ionic / Danks -Yet Further Clarification Requested

Importance: High

Dear Mr Bryant

I do appreciate your efforts to assist on this but discussion about NRA under the Preservation Laws muddies the waters so far as my client is concerned. Preservation is a separate matter and I am happy that my client understands the application of the Preservation Laws in existence on 5 September 2000( ie the date of the Rule change for Mr Danks.) and how they impact on the Scheme. Note in particular that Section 71 (3) PSA 1993 is now worded differently to the wording which applied at the time of the Rule amendment and transfer out for Mr Danks.

I would simply like to restrict the enquiry to HMRC matters under IR 12 and the Rule amendment for Mr Danks and be certain that my understanding of them is the same HMRCs.

My understanding is :

1) The Scheme Actuary at the time of the transfer apparently thought that the rule amendment gave an unconditional right to an unreduced pension at 50 upon termination of pensionable service ( note Mr Danks did not retire early he merely left active membership of the Scheme) and he therefore apparently valued the transfer on this basis at the reduced levels stated therein i.e reduced from the levels in the 1990 augmentation letter. The Rule amendment was linked to an augmentation dated 1990 and under the 1990 augmentation at age 50 Mr Danks would have had enough service on the accelerated accrual basis to have a full 2/3 rds pension payable unreduced if the Scheme Actuary's apparent interpretation of the 1990 augmentation letter was correct. Let us assume for the moment for the purpose of argument that the Scheme Actuary's apparent interpretation of the 1990 augmentation and the 2000 Rule amendment as set out above was correct. Which ever way one looks at it both the 1990 and 2000 documents provided enhanced early retirement benefits over and above what the ordinary Rules of the Scheme would have provided

and these early retirement augmentations were not provided " at the time of such retirement "to quote the relevant words from IR 12(1997) Part 13 ( the version of IR12 applicable at the relevant time) because Mr Danks did not retire early and therefore both the 1990 and 2000 documents breached the said Part 13 (as apparently interpreted by Mr Danks and the Scheme Actuary at the time -who has now been replaced ).

2) You did not receive the 2000 Rule amendment for approval and therefore technically approval of the Scheme ceased to apply until the Rule is so approved by virtue of Section 591 (B) (2) ICTA 1988 but you would not seek to take the point if the only result was that the general Scheme membership suffered.

3) The 2000 Rule amendment for Mr Danks could in your view have been approved by HMRC because on your interpretation of the Rule ( which is shared by my client based upon the professional advice it has received ) it did not provide the rights for Mr Danks which the Scheme Actuary in 2000 believed to be the case. To quote your earlier correspondence :

" However, I do not read the rule amendment sent to me as providing such a right. The Rule amendment in question has to be seen in the context of numbered paragraph 6 of the amendment that in all other respects the terms and conditions of the scheme apply. Part IV of the scheme rules paragraph 12 (C) allows a pension to be paid before normal retirement date with the consent of the employer.

In relation to the transfer value calculation an early retirement pension other than on the grounds of incapacity is always at the employer's consent. The numbered paragraph 4 in the rule amendment does not establish an automatic entitlement to benefit at age 50. The automatic entitlement to benefit is from the member's normal retirement date -age 65 as specified in numbered paragraph 1 of the rule amendment. Turning to the transfer prior to retirement the member's rights would be valued on the basis of their entitlement to receive benefits at normal retirement date. The relevant limitation for the point of view of maintaining the scheme's approval prior to 6 April 2006 is set out in the IR 12 (2001 ) at paragraph 10.26. "

However, I do not read the rule amendment sent to me as providing such a right. The Rule amendment in question has to be seen in the context of numbered paragraph 6 of the amendment that in all other respects the terms and conditions of the scheme apply. Part IV of the scheme rules paragraph 12 (C) allows a pension to be paid before normal retirement date with the consent of the employer.

In relation to the transfer value calculation an early retirement pension other than on. the grounds of incapacity is always at the employer's consent. The numbered paragraph 4 in the rule amendment does not establish an automatic entitlement to benefit at age 50. The automatic entitlement to benefit is from the member's normal retirement date -age 65 as specified in numbered paragraph 1 of the rule amendment. Turning to the transfer prior to retirement the member's rights would be valued on the basis of their entitlement to receive benefits at normal retirement date. The relevant limitation for the point of view of maintaining the scheme's approval prior to 6 April 2006 is set out in the IR 12 (2001 ) at paragraph 10.26. "

I would mention that by virtue of Rule 40 Rule amendments can be made in writing under hand and a deed amendment is not necessary. No deed was

'executed to give effect to the 2000 Rule amendment for Mr Danks so there is nothing to copy to you.

I do not wish to put you to any more trouble and if my understanding above is correct I should be grateful if you could confirm as much by return email. If not could we please discuss it on the phone because email exchanges etc on these detailed technical matters is very time consuming and a protracted way of dealing with things.

Yours sincerely

Trevor C Clarke, LLB., ACII., The Pension Law Office,

Solicitor, Chartered Insurance Practitioner and Pension Trustee, Member of The Association of Pension Lawyers.

Regulated by The Law Society.

e-mail: trevorclarke@thepensionlawyer.com web site: www.thepensionlawyer.com
6, Pedmore Court Road, Stourbridge , West Midlands, DY8 2PH

Landline: +44 (0) 1384 396339, Fax: +44 (0) 1384 376535, Mobile: +44 (0) 780 876 4707

Information contained in or attached to this email is only for the use of the addressee. It may be confidential and/ or covered by professional or other legal privilege. If you are not the addressee, or a person responsible for delivering it to the addressee , you are not authorised to and must not disclose, copy, distribute, or retain this message or any part of it. Nor should you take any action with reference to it. If you have received this email in error please notify me immediately on +44 (0)1384 396339. Thank you.

FROM MARK BRYANT OF HMRC TO TREVOR CLARKE OF GEORGE GREEN

From: Bryant, Mark (CAR Pensions) [mailto:mark.bryantChmrc.gsi.gov.uk] Sent: 20 July 2007 09:01

To: Trevor Clarke

Subject: RE: Ionic /Danks -Yet Further Clarification Requested Mr Clarke

Please note that I was out of the office yesterday afternoon.

Re the numbered points in your e-mail below.

1. The deed in itself does not appear to breach Part 13 of IR 12 (1997) which concerns scheme funding. - The breach of IR requirements appears to be the failure of the actuary to apply appropriate Inland Revenue limit, the N/NS x P formula referred to in my letter yesterday i.e. the actuary appears to have ignored the impact if the Revenue

limits rule when making the actuarial certificate. As the transfer was to a SIPP in respect of a controlling director it appears that Regulation 6(3) of The Personal Pension Schemes (Transfer Payments) Regulations 1988 should have applied, again requiring the N/NS x P restriction to be applied.

2. I can confirm that an alteration to the scheme that is not approved leads to the lapsing of approval under Section 591B (2) ICTA 88. The HMRC would not want the pensions of innocent parties, such as the arms length scheme members, to be adversely affected if this can be avoided. Prior to 6 April 2006 similar types of incidence could have been dealt with by approving the rule amendment in question retrospectively once it was formerly submitted, assuming that the rule amendment is approvable in principle which it appears to be. This is now complicated by the introduction of the new tax regime for pensions with effect from 6 April 2006 at which point our powers of approval, including approval of rule amendments, were removed by Finance Act 04. However residual powers of withdrawing approval remain as a transitional provision in Paragraph 5 Schedule 36 Finance Act 04.

3. It appears to me that the 2000 rule amendment for Mr Danks could have been approved had it been submitted for approval.

Mark Bryant

This email was received from the INTERNET and scanned by the Government Secure Intranet Anti-Virus service supplied by Cable&Wireless in partnership with MessageLabs. (CCTM Certificate Number 2006/04/0007.) In case of problems, please call your organisation's IT Helpdesk. Communications via the GSi may be automatically logged, monitored and/ or recorded for legal purposes.

The information in this e-mail and any attachments is confidential and may be subject to legal professional privilege. Unless you are the intended recipient or his/her representative you are not authorised to, and must not, read, copy, distribute, use or retain this message or any part of it. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately.

HM Revenue & Customs computer systems will be monitored and communications carried on them recorded, to secure the effective operation of the system and for lawful purposes.

The Commissioners for HM Revenue and Customs are not liable for any personal views of the sender.

This e-mail may have been intercepted and its information altered.

The original of this email was scanned for viruses by the Government Secure

Intranet Anti-Virus service supplied by Cable&Wireless in partnership with MessageLabs. (CCTM Certificate Number 2006/04/0007.) On leaving the GSi this email was certified virus free.

Communications via the GSi may be automatically logged, monitored and/ or recorded for legal purposes.

FROM TREVOR CLARKE OF GEORGE GREEN TO SCHEME ACTUARY CHRIS ATKIN OF ATKIN& CO

From: Trevor Clarke [mailto:trevorclarke@thepensionlawyer.com] Sent: 20 July 2007 10:01

To: Chris Atkin

Cc: 'Robert Ham'; 'Danny Smillie'; 'dalley julian'; 'Julian 2 Dalley'; 'Michael Conway'; 'neil williams'

Subject: Danks--Getting there with HMRC ?

Importance: High

Chris

See below for latest from Revenue. I think this now gives us a sufficient degree of clarity without the cousin of the Preservation Laws which I shall have dealt with separately in my response to the Ombudsman.

I think his reference to "the deed" in para 1 is meant to be to the Rule Amendment. Mark Bryant has done the reverse of what I asked of him in my para 1 because I asked him for the purposes of my corresponding para 1 to assume that Mark Frost's interpretation of the rule amendment was correct. He has not done so but said that the Rule amendment itself did not breach Part 13 but of course that is based upon his interpretation of the Rule amendment( which we share).

However, my approach would be to say of Mark Frost that if his interpretation of the rule amendment was correct then it would have breached Part 13 because off the premature augmentations and thus since the trustees were required to maintain a scheme approved under Section 591 ICTA the transfer -to the extent it was excessive - was unauthorised under ICTA 1988 and therefore should be refunded. However , Mark Bryant does confirm what the proper basis of transfer calculation should have been based upon the Rule Amendment as drafted so what I need from you is a rough indication of what the transfer value would have been had it complied with Mark Bryant's comments on what it should have been to maintain tax approval.

Regarding his reference to Reg 6 (3) of the PPP Transfer Payment Regulations this appears to be a reference to what at the time was referred to colloquially as the "headroom test " specifically for controlling directors (which I understand Mr Danks was ). As I understand it Reg 6(3) was specifically

designed at the time to stop controlling directors siphoning off large transfer payments from occupational schemes and transferring them to SIPPS where of course ( unlike an occupational scheme) there was no restriction on the maximum pension payable. Am I correct in this ?

Regards

Trevor C Clarke, LLB., ACII., The Pension Law Office,

Solicitor, Chartered Insurance Practitioner and Pension Trustee, Member of The Association of Pension Lawyers.

Regulated by The Law Society.

FROM SCHEME ACTUARY CHRIS ATKIN OF ATKIN& CO TO TREVOR CLARKE OF GEORGE GREEN EMAIL DATED 20 JULY 2007 TIMED AT 11.01

Trevor

You are correct in the rationale behind the transfer regulations.

Assuming that the maximum had to be calculated on the basis of N/NS from age 60 then I estimate that the transfer value should have been restricted to around £460,000. This is a broad estimate as I do not have much information to hand. It indicates that the transfer value may well have been 'excessive' from the IR's point of view. If we take NRA as 65 then the figure would be very much smaller.

However, I believe that the transfer should, in any case, be at least equal to the MFR value of benefits and hence we are thrown back on whether or not the early retirement was a right or was subject to consent.

Chris

www.atkin.uk.com Tel: 01926 844040 Fax: 01926 844042

Notice: This e-mail message and any attachments are confidential. If you are not the intended recipient you should not read, copy, distribute or otherwise use the information in this e-mail. Please return the material received to the sender and delete all copies from your system.

Whilst we run anti-virus software on all internet e-mails we are not liable for any loss or damage. The recipients are advised to run their own anti-virus software.

We do not accept liability for any e-mail interception, data corruption, or unauthorised amendment, or the consequences thereof.

Any information contained in this message that does not relate to the official business of this firm shall be understood as neither given nor endorsed by it.

Regulated by the Institute of Actuaries in respect of a range of investment business activities.

Atkin & Co is the trading name of Atkin Trustees Limited. Registered in England - No 2768340. Registered office: Oakslade, Station Road, Hatton, Warwickshire, CV35 7LH.
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FROM SCHEME ACTUARY CHRIS ATKIN OF ATKIN& CO TO TREVOR CLARKE OF GEORGE GREEN E-Mail dated 31 July 2007 timed at 12.44.

Trevor

The point regarding cash equivalents is that Danks was only strictly entitled to a cash equivalent in respect of his 88-97 service. I would, therefore, have expected the trustees to have looked at, and to have requested, a special payment if they were intending to pay a transfer in respect of benefits for earlier service that clearly had not been funded.

Given that Danks' service was from 1976 his transfer value in respect of service before 1988 would have been approximately:

Service 1976 - 1988
12 years

Service
1976 -1997
21 years


Rough proportion of transfer
value relating to pre-88 service
=
12/21 Transfer value relating to pre-99 service = 12 / 21 x 689,133 =£393,790

With regard to other figures there is a danger that so many numbers get bandied about it becomes impossible to see the wood for the trees. BUT here goes!

If benefits are based on 60ths for each year of service then I estimate that the MFR cash equivalents based on different NRAs would have been:


NRA 65
£265,000


NRA 60
£375,000

If it is assumed that a two-thirds pension accrued over service to NRA (N/NS) then the figures become:


NRA 65
£275,000


NRA 60
£450,000

The pre-88 element of these figures can be estimated by proportion so, for example, N/NS NRA
60
£450,000 x 12 / 21
=
£257,000 It would perhaps be reasonable to add 40% for interest since 2000.

Please note that all figures are approximate and are provided to give an indication of 'loss' only.

I hope that this helps Chris

www.atkin.uk.com Tel: 01926 844040 Fax: 01926 844042
Notice: This e-mail message and any attachments are confidential. If you are not the intended recipient you should not read, copy, distribute or otherwise use the information in this e-mail. Please return the material received to the sender and delete all copies from your system.

Whilst we run anti-virus software on all internet e-mails we are not liable for any loss or damage. The recipients are advised to run their own anti-virus software.

We do not accept liability for any e-mail interception, data corruption, or unauthorised amendment, or the consequences thereof.

Any information contained in this message that does not relate to the official business of this firm shall be understood as neither given nor endorsed by it.

Regulated by the Institute of Actuaries in respect of a range of investment business activities.

Atkin & Co is the trading name of Atkin Trustees Limited. Registered in England - No 2768340. Registered office: Oakslade, Station Road, Hatton, Warwickshire, CV35 7LH.
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FOR AND ON BEHALF
ORGE GREEN 4 AUGUST 2007
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BACON & WOODROW

Actuaries and Consultants

41 CalthorpcRoad Fdgbaston Blrntingham B15 1TS
Telephone 021 456 3040 Faa 021 456 3041

[image: image14.png]L Qaom
Y RN

b(oc_wwx B«w'\'ﬂ
W L



Privatepnd Confidential
L Danks Esq

Ionic Surface Treatments Limited Grove Street

Smethwick Warley

West Midlands B66 2QN
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Dear Leigh

Pension Scheme Benefits for you and Colin Prosser
I refer to my earlier letter of 4 May and subsequent telephone conversation.

I have looked into the costs to the Pension Scheme of alternative benefit provisions for you and Colin and the results are as shown below: -

Ypurs_el f
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The early retirement alone is not very costly since the earlier payment is to a large extent offset by the lower total accrual and I have also considered the option of your taking advantage of the present surplus in the fund to augment your own benefit to include RPI linking even though it otherwise remains on the basic 60th scale.

If you decide to go ahead with one or other of the costed options, I suggest that the most satisfactory implementation route is by way of an exchange of letters. This will have the advantage of lower cost than amending the Trust Deed and will also retain confidentiality.

I will contact the Prudential to discuss the precise arrangements once you let me know your decision.

If you would like to discuss any aspect of this further, or require alternative packages costing, then please get in touch.

Regards

Yours sincerely
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P Worthington

APPENDIX C2 Stead, Lesley

KAUR Kam [Kam.Kaur@pinsentmasons.com]

06 August 2007 11:40

Stead, Lesley

SHELLEY Daniel

MESSAGE SENT ON BEHALF OF DANIEL SHELLEY - Leigh Danks

Attachments: Scanned_ pdf

Dear Ms Stead

Please find attached our submission on Mr Danks' behalf to the Pensions Ombudsman on the Notification of

Preliminary Conclusions and the further correspondence submitted by the Applicant.

In addition, in case it is helpful, we set out below some comments of a more mundane typographical nature:

3. 
Second line: "Mr Brooke" not "Brooks".

4.5 Comma after "Mr Danks" to be deleted and moved to after "fault".


7.
2nd line "...I note than..." should read "...I note that..." and 3rd line "pursuer" should be "pursue".


9, 11 & 22
All include phrase "insofar as" - 9 and 22 as three words and 22 as one word.


13.
Penultimate line, "scheme" should be with a capital "S".


27.
First line "...Definitive Deed supercedes..." should be spelt "...supersedes...".

29. 2nd line third word "seem" should read "seems".


31.
Bottom page 8, start 4th sentence, word "difficult" should read "difficulty".

32.3 "no" should read "not".


40.
End of 4th line, "ast" should read "as".

APPENDIX A - MATERIAL FACTS

4. 
Page 2, 5th line, "the" after "ie" should be deleted.


11.
End of last line before sub-section (a) "...absolute discretion determined..." should read "...absolute

discretion determine...".

APPENDIX B - EVIDENCE OF ORAL HEARING


1.
1st line "raised concerns during" - the word "during" should be deleted.


4.
4th line, "a" should be deleted, and "...from age 60 and such an assessment may have..." - should the word
"assessment" be "assumption"?

12. Year at start of line 4 as "198" should be "1986".

Kind regards,

Daniel Shelley

Partner

Pinsent Masons

Tel +44 (0)121 625 3074

Fax +44 (0)121 626 1040

E-mail daniel.shelley@pinsentmasons.com
Pinsent Masons is part of PMLG - An international group of law firms
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	BY POST AND EMAIL

Ms Lesley Stead

Senior Investigator

PPFO Pensions Ombudsman 11 Belgrave Road

LONDON

SW1V 1RB
	Your ref: P01257/LS Our Ref 20\21371868.11DWS\624496.07000

DDI 0121 625 3074 E daniel.shelley@pinsentmasons.com


6 August 2007

Dear Ms Stead

IONIC SURFACE TREATMENTS LIMITED PENSION SCHEME - APPLICATION BY CONWAY BELWELL WILLIAMS (FORENSIC CONSULTANCY) LIMITED (CBW) - OUR CLIENT: MR L DANKS

I refer to your letter of 21 June, attaching the Ombudsman's Notification of Preliminary Conclusions, and also to your letter of 5 July with enclosures. I set out below our comments on behalf of Mr Danks.

NOTIFICATION OF PRELIMINARY CONCLUSIONS

Our only comments on the Notification are of a clarificatory nature. They are as follows:‑

1. 
At the end of paragraph 8, we believe that the reference should be to "deficit" rather than "surplus".

2. 
In the third line of paragraph 10, the reference should be to Mr Danks rather than to Mr Frost.

3. 
In paragraph 18, should it not say in the second line "...had he chosen not to do so..." rather than "...had he chosen so to do..."?

At the end of paragraph 19, should not the word "prohibits" instead read "permits"?


5.
In paragraph 34, the reference in the third line should be to the Company rather than to the Scheme.

HMRC CORRESPONDENCE AND APPLICANT'S FURTHER SUBMISSIONS

We now turn to Mr Clarke's email to you of 11 June, with attached correspondence, including a copy of his email to you of 8 March as well as correspondence between his clients and HMRC. In our view, neither the submissions by Mr Clarke, nor the correspondence with HMRC, justify any material change to the contents of the Notification of Preliminary Conclusions.

3 Colmore Circus Birmingham B4 6BH United Kingdom

T +44 (0)121 200 1050 F +44 (0)121 626 1040 DX 703167 Birmingham 12 www.plnsentmasons.com
LONDON BIRMINGHAM BRISTOL EDINBURGH GLASGOW LEEDS MANCHESTER BEIJING BRUSSELS DUBAI HONG KONG SHANGHAI
Regulated by The Law Society. A list of partners' names is available for inspection at the above address.
D

With regard to HMRC's letter of 15 May, we believe that the evidence before the Ombudsman, both in correspondence and at the Oral Hearing, makes clear that benefits in respect of Mr Danks were determined in accordance with the scheme rules (which include, of course, Rule 34(A)(ii) - the augmentation rule), and that those benefits were not pre-funded. As such, there is no suggestion that the scheme's approval was at any time in jeopardy. We note HMRC's comment that the relationship between scheme benefits and scheme funding was not accurately reflected in the Applicant's letter of 5 March to HMRC.

We note with surprise that the Applicant appears to be arguing that the scheme's approval should be treated as having been withdrawn. This would, of course, have consequences for all members and not just Mr Danks. In our view, these submissions are erroneous. We would also note that there has been ample time during the course of this investigation for these questions to be explored with HMRC, and that because they have been raised after the Oral Hearing, it has not been open to our clients to examine them at the Oral Hearing. In any event, it is clear that the granting of the augmentations, and the subsequent reduction in benefits and transfer were in accordance with the rules and IR12, as supported by the HMRC letter of 15 May 2007.

The Applicant misrepresents the reduction in benefits statement. Contrary to the Applicant solicitors' letter of 8 March, the benefit reduction statement is not expressed as a scheme rule amendment. Rather, it is described quite correctly as constituting an alteration made under clause 40 of the scheme rules. That rule not only provides for formal variations to the rules (which the benefit reduction statement is not), but also for alterations or modifications to all or any of the provisions of the scheme. Indeed, given that the benefits being varied were contained in the augmentation letters and not the scheme rules, an amendment to the rules would have been inappropriate. As such, the consequences that allegedly flow from this clearly fall away.

My client is understandably concerned at the immense personal strain on himself and his family, as well as the considerable cost incurred in seeking to clear his name. He is also concerned at what he believes to be the very considerable fees that he believes will have been charged to the fund for the independent trustee and its professional advisers, in respect of allegations which he has always believed to be unfounded (a view now supported by the Ombudsman's Notification of Preliminary Conclusions). On our client's behalf, we would therefore ask whether there are any measures that the Ombudsman is able to take in connection with these matters.

Finally, client has also been acutely distressed by the damage done to his reputation by communications made to scheme members by the independent trustee (please see the attached letters to members (of whom Mr Danks remains one, of course) of 5 December 2002 and 23 April 2003). Our client has therefore enquired as to whether the Ombudsman would be able, if he issues the final determination substantially in the same form as the Notification of Preliminary Conclusions, to direct or request the independent trustee to issue a communication to members on the part of the independent trustee (but in terms approved by Mr Danks) confirming the withdrawal of all allegations against Mr Danks of dishonesty and any other wrong doing. It is clearly not open to our client to make arrangements for such a communication.

[image: image4.png]Yours sincerely

DA

Daniel Shelley
Partner
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FACSMILE TRANSMISSION

From;
Leigh flanks
Date: 3 August 2007 No. of Pagcs Three

For the Attention of Mr Daniel Shelley, Pinsent Masons

Sorry tar the omission but the following two documents dated 5 December 2002 and 23 April 2003 are the specimens you requested and should have been appended to my letter of 2 August 2007.

6gards.
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Conway Belwell Williams
(Forensic Consultancy) Ltd.

Par:m a Houk 5-7'Iikniplc Itc w ~+l ' B111nuiOi Lm lit 5rY
ThI0121236 2280 Fax: 0121 236 7450 Mobile. 0781E 4513.71
limail: chw 11d@yalloo.co.uk
Strictly Private & Confidential

Mr Leigh Danks 45 Field Lane

Oldswinford Stourbridge DY8 2ED

23rd April 2003

Ze,4 1‘14t 03
Dear Member,

Re: Ionic Surtace Treatments Limited Pension Scheme
As you are aware, we have been conducting investigations into the circumstances surrounding the granting of augmented benefits to Mr Prosser and to Mr Danks, who were both trustees and members of the Scheme at the time, and the benefits subsequently obtained by both of them on retirement and transfer respectively.

We are pleased to report that some monies have already been recovered and that claims continue to be pursed on behalf of the Scheme and its members, through our solicitors, George Green. After extensive investigations, detailed letters were sent to Mr Danks and to the solicitors acting for his pension scheme on 10th April 2003 demanding a sizeable repayment of monies. Substantive responses are awaited from both of them.

We will update you again, as soon as there are any material developments.. Yours sincerely,
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Conway Belwell Williams
(Forensic Consultancy)
Ltd.
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Nlr Lelgh Danks 45 Field lane

0ldswinford

Stourbridge

DY8 2ED

5th December 2002

Dear Member,

Re: Ionic Surface Treatments Umited Pension Scheme
Further developments have occurred since my last letter of August 2002.

We have now received an interim report from the schemes legal advisor, the findings of which have identified areas which require further GanficaVon.

We have therefore, called a meeting of past and present irustees which will be attended by representative members of the scheme and the specialist pension solicitor acting on our behalf as Independent Trustee. There will also be present an entirely independent actuary also acting on behalf of the Independent Trustee.

At this meeting the following two issues will be discussed:

1.) The validity of past benefit augmentations;

2.) The validity of past transfer payments.

I w11 advise you of the outcome of this meeting and what, if any, further steps are required, in due course.

With regard to our claims to the liquidator and the redundancy payment service, both have been acknowledged and are on going. Again, I will advise you as soon as we have received the claim proceeds.

Yours sincerely,

141ichael Conway Independent Trustee

(Nf EI'F,NDERT TRUSTEES

RECEIVED TIME
3. A U G..1 0 : 3 546 Rcgiuercd Mr Somme{ Hawse. V • 49 Pdtt S reer, Nrmit h,m $1612

40. Subject to Section 50 of the Pensions Act and to Rule 3 of Part VII of these Rules and as hereinafter provided the Trustees may from time to time and at any time with the consent of the Principal Company by way of formal variation of these Rules adopted by any deed or deeds executed by the Trustees and the Principal Company or by any writing effected under hand by the Trustees and the Principal Company alter or modify all or any of the provisions of the Scheme and for the avoidance of doubt such alteration or modification may be of retrospective effect Provided that no such alteration or modification as aforesaid shall be made which would have the effect of varying or affecting any benefits (whether immediate or prospective but not including the Cash Death Benefit) applicable to Pensionable Service completed before the alteration or modification (upon the basis that the Member's current Pensionable Salary will remain unchanged until the Normal Retiring Date) without the consent in writing of any Member affected thereby.
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	Notice in writing of any such alteration or modification as aforesaid shall before the same takes effect be given to every Member who will be affected thereby.

41. Nothing in t~.e Scheme shall in any way restrict or fetter the right of the Employers to dismiss any employee.


42. (A) At the end of the Perpetuity Period (if the Scheme then ceases to satisfy the requirements of Section 69(1) of the Social Security Act and there shall be no legislation making it lawful for the trusts to continue) or if before that date

(i) an order is made or an effective resolution passed. for the winding-up of the Principal Company
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	or
(ii) the Principal Company shall terminate its
liability to pay contributions under the Scheme

the Scheme shall (subject to the provisions of (G) of this Role) be wound up (unless in the case of (i) above contrary arrangements are made to the satisfaction of the Trustees) whereupon the Fund shall be dissolved and the trusts of the Scheme shall cease and determine as hereinafter mentioned.


(B) On such winding-up of the Scheme as aforesaid the Fund shall be realised and the net proceeds of such realisation and any moneys then in hand (other than moneys representing either benefits then held by the Trustees for distribution upon the trusts set out in Rule 43 or subject to Revenue Limitations such additional pensions and other benefits provided from the AVC Sector as the Trustees shall determine to be appropriate in relation to any additional voluntary contributions made by Members under Rule 34(B))

58
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To:
The Trustees of the Ionic Surface Treatments Limited Pension Scheme (the "Scheme")

From: L Danks

REDUCTION IN BENEFITS

The benefits payable to me, under the Scheme, are described in a letter to me dated 31st August 1990, which provided for special terms of membership.

In view of the current funding position of the Scheme I hereby consent to a reduction in my pension benefits, to the following scale:

1. 
Normal Retiring Date is the day before my 65th birthday.

2. 
Pension will be calculated as 1/60th of Final Pensionable Earnings for each year of service.

3.  Pension payable to my widow on my death, either before or after retirement, will be two thirds of the pension payable to me including increases to the date of death, and ignoring any commutation for lump sum:'
4. 
In respect of service prior to 1st April 1997, pension may be paid without reduction on retirement at any age from 50.

5. 
Pension increases in payment, other than on GMPs where statutory increases apply, will be based on increases in the Retail Price Index.

6. 
In all other respects, the terms and conditions of the Scheme apply.

Signed: 

Date: 
 L Danks

We hereby acknowledge the above reduction in pension benefits for this member, and confirm this alteration is being made under Clause 40 of the Scheme's Rules.

Signed: 

Date: 
 On behalf of Ionic Surface Treatments Limited


Date: 
 On behalf of the Trustees

NOTICE.DOC

6.-(1) A personal pension scheme shall not accept a transfer payment from

(a) a retirement benefits scheme, or

(b) a statutory scheme

(in this regulation referred to as "the paying scheme") in the circumstances specified in paragraph (2) unless the administrator of the personal pension scheme has obtained the certificate specified in paragraph (3) from the individual referred to in paragraph (2).

(2) The circumstances specified in this paragraph are circumstances where, in respect of any employment to which the proposed transfer payment, or any part of it, relates -

(a) an individual is, or has been at any time during the period of ten years prior to the date on which a right to a cash equivalent arose, a controlling director, or

(b) an individual's annual remuneration is, or was for any year during the period of ten years prior to the date on which the right to a cash equivalent arose, £100,000 or in excess of that amount.

(3) The certificate specified in this paragraph is a certificate, signed by the administrator of the paying scheme, and which shows that -

(a) the proposed transfer payment calculated in accordance with "Retirement Benefit Schemes - Transfer Values (GN11)" published by the Institute of Actuaries and the Faculty of Actuaries and current at the date of the calculation does not exceed the cash equivalent of the benefits under the paying scheme reflected in the transfer payment (together with, in circumstances where paragraph (4) is applicable, such cash equivalent as is not so reflected) based on the formula N/NS x P where - N is the number of actual years service in respect of which benefits have accrued to the member under -

(i) the paying scheme, and

(ii) where a transfer payment has been accepted by the paying scheme from a retirement benefits scheme or statutory scheme, the retirement benefits scheme or statutory scheme,

NS up to a maximum of 40, NS is the number of years of potential service to normal retirement age under the rules of -

(i) the paying scheme, and

(ii) where a transfer payment has been accepted by the paying scheme from a retirement benefits scheme or statutory scheme, the retirement benefits scheme, or statutory scheme, NS up to a maximum of 40, and NS is the maximum benefits which could have been provided under the rules of the paying scheme in respect of the number of potential years of service expressed in the denominator NS, taking into account the maximum benefits that the scheme could have provided for the individual and his dependants, and on the assumptions that -

(i) had the individual remained a member of the scheme the benefits which would have accrued to him throughout the period between the end of his actual service and his normal

retirement age under the rules of the paying scheme would have increased at the rate of 5 per cent. per annum, and

(ii) that pensions payable thereafter would increase at the rate of 3 per cent. per annum; and

(b) except in the circumstances and to the extent specified in paragraph (4), the proposed transfer payment represents the whole of the individual's accrued rights to benefits under the paying scheme.

(4) The circumstances specified in this paragraph are circumstances where, to the extent that any enactment requires or permits an occupational pension scheme to restrict the amount which may be transferred -

(a) regulation 2A of the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 19850 applies and the transfer value provided by the occupational pension scheme does not include benefits which accrued to the individual as a member of the scheme in relation to the service before 6th April 1988, or

(b) the individual's benefits include rights to a guaranteed minimum pension or protected rights and the personal pension scheme receiving the transfer payment is not an appropriate personal pension scheme.
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31 May 1990
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Option (i)


2½% per annum £7,000





60�Normal Scale 60ths�option (ii)�RPI linked�£25,000
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62�Full 2/3rds pension�Linked to RPI inflation�£57,000
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